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EARLY YEARS OF THE BOROUGH
— 1895-1916 —

A_Ilendale’s population about 1894-1895 was
reported in a local newspaper as 495. By 1900, the
number had grown to 694, by June 1905 the popula-
tion was 762, and by 1910, 937 people lived in the
Borough of Allendale.

Around the turn of the century, the Erie Railroad
occasionally published brochures and booklets pro-
moting real estate in the areas served by their trains.
One such booklet, “Where To Live,” by Henry P.
Phelps, published by the Passenger Department of
the Erie Railroad in 1904, described Allendale.
“Allendale is an exceedingly pleasant country village
grown up around the station, and composed almost
entirely of country homes. Land is not held so high
but what a person of moderate income can usually
afford to own all he can take care of, and not be oblig-
ed to keep a horse to get to and from the railroad. It

Chestnut Ridge. All about here are farms which for
the city man who wants to get back to Nature, and
bring up his children in a knowledge of her ways,
should be investigated. 25.6 miles from New York.
Population, 800. Fares — One way, 80¢; round trip,
$1.10; monthly commutation, $6.70. Trains —
Weekdays, 16 to New York, 17 from New York;
Sundays, 10 to New York, 11 from New York. Lots
(50x150), from $200 up. Rents, $10 to $30.” L. B.
Burtis was listed in this booklet as a real estate agent
at Allendale.

BOROUGH AFFAIRS AND SERVICES

On January 3, 1895, James J. Linkroum was
appointed marshall of Allendale. He was sworn in on
January 10th and on January 24th, the borough clerk

was instructed by the mayor and

The Allendale School, Franklin Turnpike, 1904

council to secure a “proper
badge” for the marshall. On
February 21st the council
resolved that the borough mar-
shall be supplied with a pair of
handcuffs and the borough clerk
was instructed to purchase a pair.
The salary of the Allendale mar-
shall was set at $25 per year.
Other marshalls and deputies who
served Allendale during this peri-
od were Hopper Yeomans, Fred
Koster, Ernest Steele, John L.
Yeomans, and Edward Hilbert.

The Allendale mayor and
council continued in 1895 to hold
their meetings at the schoolhouse
on Franklin Turnpike. In February
the borough clerk was authorized
to secure the basement of Archer
Hall for the spring elections.

is a good farming country, and considerable fruit is
raised. It is healthful beyond all question. Roads are
excellent, and the scenery is picturesque and pleas-
ing. Allendale is also the station for Saddle River, 1-1/2
miles to the east, in a beautiful valley overlooked by

In the spring of 1895 the
incumbent mayor and council (elected December 4,
1894) were reelected for a second term. They were:
Peter D. Rapelje, mayor, and Walter Dewsnap,
Edward E. Burtis, Horace O. Doty, George W. Hatch,
Charles Parigot, and C. A. Quackenbush, councilmen.
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Robert L. Nimmo was named borough clerk. In
December 1895, the borough entered into a contract to
rent Linkroum’s hall at $35 for the year, for elections
and borough meetings. The first ordinance passed by
the Allendale borough council was in 1896, when it was
declared “unlawful for any person to ride upon a bicy-
cle on any sidewalk within the borough of Allendale.”

At the January 21, 1897 meeting of the mayor and
council, it was resolved to accept the offer of the
Allendale Board of Education of a room in the newly
built schoolhouse in which to hold council meetings.
James Morton Southwick was employed to take care
of the council room in the schoolhouse.

At the spring elections of 1897 the following were
elected: George Cook, mayor; and Walter Dewsnap,
John Jacob Pullis, Cornelius A. Hopper, Jesse Brown,
John A. Mallinson, John Jacob Vanderbeek, council-
men. Garret G. Smith was named borough clerk.
These borough officers were reelected in spring 1899
for a second term.

The mayor and council continued to meet in the
schoolhouse until 1913 when the fire house was built.
A large room on the second floor of the Fire House
served as a Borough Hall. Council meetings were
held in this room until sometime in the 1930s, after
the 1929 opening of Brookside School, when the
mayor and council took over the former school build-
ing on Franklin Turnpike as a Municipal Building.

They met there until February 1939 when the council,
under Mayor Louis A. Keidel, voted, in a austerity
measure to save expenses, to transfer meetings back
to the Fire House.

In 1915 parts of Franklin Township were ceded to
Allendale Borough and Orvil Township. In Allendale,
this new acquisition seems to have been the area of
West Crescent Avenue near the Waldwick border.

A Board of Health was organized in Allendale as
early as 1896, when, according to the borough coun-
cil minutes of February 6th, the following board of
health commissioners were appointed: Samuel W.
Brainerd, John A. Mallinson, Dr. Charles W. Badeau,
C. A. Merrill, and Martin Henion.

The Allendale Board of Health in these early days
was concerned with, among other health-related
issues, the spread of infectious diseases. One of these
was infantile paralysis, or polio, particularly feared in
those days when there was no preventive vaccine. As
early as 1916, Allendale had an infantile paralysis
scare. As a preventive measure, the Allendale Board
of Health determined that no children under the age
of 16 should congregate in groups of more than five,
and the police force was charged with enforcing this
ruling. Children were not permitted to congregate at
the Allendale Recreation Field, and were kept from
swimming together at the new Allendale pool. School
opening was delayed that year, and when area cases

Bird’s eye view of Allendale, looking east from the
water tower of the house at 200 Hillside Avenue.
This was then the home of New York City confec-
tioner Cyprian Goussel. The view is from a post-
card published by W. Kornhoff, Allendale Home
Made Bakery ¢.1905. The body of water al the left is
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Mallinson’s Pond (now Crestwood Lake). The house
visible right of center is Dr. Gabriel Parkhurst’s
home (later Van Houten's) on West Maple Avenue.
Smoke visible horizontally through photo is from a
passing locomotive. The house on the far right is on
Hillside Avenue.
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of the disease appeared to be decreasing, school
finally opened on September 25th.'

Mayors of Allendale during this era were Peter D.
Rapelje (1895-1897), George Cook (1898-1900),
Walter Dewsnap (1901-1905 and 1910-1911), Charles
S. Roswell (1906-1909), John W. Winter (1912-1913),
and Gustave Nadler (1914-1918).

Those serving on the Allendale Borough Council
between 1895 and 1916 included Jesse Brown, Robert
Cockroft, William G. Z. Critchley, Walter Dewsnap,
George W. Hatch, B. F. Hutches, Jr, Willilam I
Kornhoff, Fred Koster, Dr. Godfrey Pittis, William W.
Pollock, Abram T. Ryerson, and Charles Weeks.

Among Allendale’s borough clerks during this peri-
od were Daniel Anthony, Robert L. Nimmo, Garret G.
Smith, J. Muried Christopher, and Charles F. Smith.

BUSINESSES AND THE
ALLENDALE BUSINESS SECTION

In 1892 Henry J. Appert purchased a house and
property at the west end of what became Cottage
Place, moved his family into the house, and began
cultivation of his produce farm. The house burned
down to its foundation in December 1896 and the
house now standing at One Cottage Place was built
slightly to the east of the old homesite.

By October 1903 Appert was calling his farm the
Golden Gate Celery Gardens. The

property and business and in that same year he built
the first greenhouse. He further developed the farm,
buying surrounding acreage including LeBarron,
Zabriskie, and Quackenbush farm land, until the total
farm area exceeded 100 acres.

The farm gained reknown as a picturesque land-
mark with its meticulously kept plots of black soil
dotted with rows of developing green crops. Each
plot was marked out by a surrounding border of
green grass. New electrically equipped washing and
packing buildings were erected and in them massive
preparations for marketing were conducted, includ-
ing a new bleaching process.

Loads of produce were conveyed by motor truck
and in refrigerated railroad cars to the wholesale
markets in New York City, Philadelphia, Boston,
Paterson and to the Campbell Soup factory. The cel-
ery was branded and beca&ue famed as the “Triple A”
and “King Arthur” brands.”

New businesses in Allendale, mostly centered
around the train station, continued to open, and most
of them thrived. In early 1895, James Linkroum erect-
ed a new building, called “Linkroum’s Hall” by some,
near the depot on the east side of the railroad tracks.
It was reported that Dr. Abraham Lydecker, a former
resident of Ramsey who had moved to Ohio, planned
to return east to open a drug store in part of
Linkroum’s new building. By June of 1895, Linkroum

crops at Appert’s farm were chang-
ed over the years from onions to
celery and lettuce. Improvements
were made and modern equipment
was installed. A hydraulic irrigation
system was installed and used dur-
ing summer droughts. A pumping
house was erected and installed,
with electric pumps for draining off
excessive water to the brook during
the heavy summer rains. Motor
equipment, including motorized
tractors, auto-trucks, and various
farm machinery, was utilized.
Family houses were erected, where
crews of hired help lived and board-
ed. Large greenhouses were built
for raising seedling plants, and
buildings were equipped with
steam heat, electric lighting, electri-
cally equipped sprinkling systems,
and ventilation facilities.

i

Appert’s Golden Gate Gardens, about 1915. Arthur Appert, at left.
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Daily truck loads of produce
were delivered to New York and Paterson wholesale
markets. The farm was renamed the Allendale
Produce Gardens.

In 1912 Appert’s son Arthur A. Appert bought the

himself had opened an “ice cream saloon” in the
lower part of his new hall. The upper part of the hall
was used for meetings. This building housed a sta-
tionery and confectionery business for over half a



54 EARLY YEARS OF THE BorouGrn — 1895-1916

century. Those who operated this business at later
dates included James E. Webb (1904), Wally
Gasparini, George Mensching (by 1910), Bert
Linkroum, and Eugene Melchionna (1916). In
December 1895, James Linkroum entered into a con-
tract with the Allendale Borough Council and the bor-
ough agreed to rent for $35 part of the new hall for
spring elections and borough meetings.

About April 1896 James Linkroum rented store
space to Thomas Brown of New York, who opened a
dry and fancy goods store. In October 1896 Brown's
“New York Store” was broken into, and according to
an article in The Ramsey Journal, “the best of every-
thing in his store was taken. The thieves broke into
the side entrance leading upstairs and through the

In May 1899, when O. H. P. Archer died at his sum-
mer home in Allendale, after an illness of only three
days, most businesses and stores in Allendale were
closed in respect for the man who had done so much
for the community. Allendale people gathered at
Archer Memorial Methodist Church to pay tribute to
the memory of the summer resident who had been
identified with so many improvements to the borough.

Eliza Borger (Mrs. Henry C. Borger) ran a dry
goods store in the early years of the century, begin-
ning about 1903. The store was run in a building
owned by Garret H. Winter that stood on the north
side of West Allendale Avenue on the site later occu-
pied by Winter Brothers’ store. The building was
moved to High Street in 1931. At Mrs. Borger's store,
besides dry and fancy

Ze¥  Erie Railroad
Station,
Allendale; a8

Noldy

(the sign says “Allendale Shoe Store”)

Postcard c. 1910-1915, a view looking norvth along Park Avenue to the Evie Railroad
Station. The buwilding partially shown on the extreme lefl, is Gasparini's Shoe Store

goods, one could buy
notions, confectionery
TR products, and sta-
; tionery items. One
could even buy reserv-
ed seat tickets for
Archer Hall entertain-
ments at Borger’s
store. After the Borger
store  closed on
March 31, 1914, Mrs.
Orival O. Clark, then
of Ramsey, opened
another dry goods
store in the same
building about May
1916. By January
1920 the Clarks lived
on Allendale Avenue.
She ran this store
until about December
1920. Mrs. Clark's
husband, Orival O.

partition into the store.” Sometime before the sum-
mer of 1897, Brown had moved his store across the
street to a building owned by Garret Winter. By
August 1897 Brown had closed the business and
moved back to New York.”

Max Scholz had come from New York City and to
open a “first-class barber shop” by April 1895. Vito M.
Gasparini moved to Allendale in 1898 and opened a
boot and shoe repair shop on West Allendale Avenue
near Hop Youmans' Butcher Shop. Later Gasparini
bought a house which stood on the site where the train
station stands today. After the railroad bought this land
from Gasparini, he bought, in April 1902, the property
at 42 Park Avenue from John A. and Mary C. Mallinson,
and he and his family moved there. He also ran his
Allendale Shoe Store there until his death in 1925."”

Clark was Mayor of
Allendale in 1919-1920. The Clark family had moved
to San Diego, California by 1927.% %7
A series of short-lived partnerships preceded the
long-lasting venture most Allendale residents knew
as Winter Brothers Store. The general store of Winter,
Leamon & Company was established in Allendale in
1888 and was succeeded by Smith and Henion in
1894. By November 1896, Smith and Henion had dis-
solved their partnership. The Souvenir, published by
Archer Memorial Methodist Church in December
1894, presented this image of the Smith and Henion
general store: “A true picture of a barrel of
‘Pillsbury’s Best’ Flour, Life-size, greets the traveller
as he looks north from Friend Linkrum’s. Smith &
Henion, two young men full of push, grit, hope and
goods, are on deck. Mr. Muihead Christopher is one
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Allendale Square, about 1905, show-
ing the business section. The view is
looking northwest from the railroad
tracks. The two buildings in the cen-
ter are the Winter General Store and
the building housing Mrs. Borger’s
Dry Goods Store. The building on
the left is the Allendale Meat Market,
southeast of the lLwo stores in the
center of the photo. 11 stood about on
the site where the Guatelli Building
would later be built. Myrtle Avenue
runs between it and the Winter store
and the street on the viewer's side of
the meat market is West Allendale
Avenue. Today’s commulter parking
lot would be at bottom left. The
building on the right is Linkroum’s
Hall.

of their salesmen. Harmless, modest, ready and intel-
ligent is he. He has a future and so has every young
man who keeps away from rum and evil company.”

John W. Winter was running the store by the early
part of the 1900s, and in 1912 he took over the busi-
ness from his father, Garret Hopper Winter. G. C.
Coates and Philip Strunk bought the business on May
2, 1914 and ran it as Coates & Strunk until May 1, 1916
when both men and their families moved to Butler,
New Jersey, and the business was returned to the
Winter family. On May 1, 1916, John Winter turned the
store over to his two sons, Herbert J. Winter and
William L. Winter, and the store was henceforth
called Winter Brothers’. The business was incorpo-
rated in 1916. At this point the store was still a gen-
eral store, selling a wide variety of items from
groceries to chickenfeed to coal. Bub Buhlman later
remembered the Winter business as an old-fashioned
general store “where you could get everything from a
needle to a locomotive.”™

In the winter, ice was cut and harvested from
ponds and lakes, and kept in ice houses for use dur-
ing the year. In January 1903, six men and a horse
were gathering ice from Christopher’s pond in
Allendale, when suddenly the ice broke, plunging the
horse and the men into the water. All of the men and
the horse were quickly rescued. Reporting on the
condition of the shivering men, The Ramsey Jowrnal
noted, the “water cure caused them to suspend their
prohibition views for a time and counteract the out-
ward bath by an inward wash.” .

The Allendale Ice Company was in business by
about 1915, and in July 1916 a Mr. Gray, of Paterson,
took over the management of the business. % Jce was
harvested from lake San Jacinto well into the 1920s.
On January 29, 1920, The Ramsey Journal reported,

“The ice houses around Lake San Jacinto have been
filled to their capacity with sixteen inch ice. This year
is the first time these have been filled for some years
past. Ice ought to be cheap next summer.”

Ice was delivered to homes in wagons, and Laura
Barrett Haviland later wrote, “we kids would beg for
a little piece of ice to suck on, when they stopped at
our house.” Nearly every home had an icebox, and in
addition, some people cooled their butter and milk by
dropping it in a bucket into the well. Ice continued to
be delivered to homes well into the 1930s, by which
time nearly every household had replaced its icebox
with an electric refrigerator. In September 1927,
Allendale resident Carroll Varey, preparing to return
to college, gave up his summer job as an ice man in
Ramsey, working for Mr. Garrison.

Wagons also delivered meat — the housewife
went out to the wagon, made her selection, and the
butcher would cut and weigh the meat in the back of
the Wagon.s' 1

Allendale’s first pay phone was installed in R. V.
Ackerman’s general store (it was the only Allendale
telephone listed in the Ridgewood Central Office
directory issued in September 1897). In October 1898
Ackerman built a large coal shed near his store.
About June 1903 John H. Ackerman bought out and
succeeded his father, Richard V. Ackerman, in his
general store business in Allendale. When the store
building was destroyed by fire on August 2, 1903 it
was rebuilt that same year on a site slightly west of
the old store. At the time of the fire R. V. Ackerman,
in poor health, and his second wife, Emma, and
daughter, Myra, lived above the store. John H.
Ackerman and his family lived a short distance away
on Park Avenue. All of Ackerman’s stock was
destroyed in the fire, along with the store’s account
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Station Square, in
Allendale, on the west
side of the railroad
tracks, from a post-
card mailed August
1908 to Helyn Whiting.
The view shown 1is
looking southwest
along Park Avenue
Jrom the west side of
the railroad (racks.
The building on (he
left is Ackerman’s
General Store. The
building shown at the
right is Gasparini’s
Shoe Store.

books and the public telephone. The Allendale bor-
ough safe, which had been stored in the building, was
partially destroyed, and Western Union telegraph
wires were saved by cutting them. The engineer of a
passing freight train blew his whistle for ten minutes
to alert neighbors, who responded to put out the i)uo
and prevent its spread to other nearby bu1l(11ngs

In 1908 John H. Ackerman advertised his store
(Tel. 94 1-1), offering groceries, teas, coffees, spices,
butter and cheese, as well as the highest grade of
Pittston Coal, along with flour, feed, and hay." ' The
John H. Ackerman family lived first on Park Avenue
and later on Elm Street. John H. Ackerman continued
his father’s general store business in Allendale (later
selling just coal and fuel oil).l'l

William F. Kornhoff established his bakery in
Allendale about 1901. In 1903 he built a house, with a
bakery in the front part, near the railroad station on the
north side of and facing the street that would later be
named Myrtle Avenue. In December 1909 the Kornhoff
Bakery building burned and the bakery was reloc ated
probably to a building on West Allendale Avenue. L

By 1904 James J. Slingland’s Allendale Dairy
Company was in busines here, and Slingland offered

“milk and cream —strictly pure. Delivered to any part of
Allendale and Waldwick. Alderny and Jersey Cattle.” 10

Fred Rogers moved to Allendale about 1901. He
operated his Woodland Dairy from about 1915 until
about 1950. He made his home on what was then
called Rogers Road (later called Boroline Road) with
Anna Wilson and Ellen Wilson, and later with their
nephew, Robert D. Wilson and his family.

A hotel at Allendale was being run in 1900 by
Lyman F. Bradley, and his bartender was Andrew .J.
Mowerson. Bradley had assumed the management of
the hotel in May 1895, succeeding H. J. Mansfield. In
June 1905 John A. Johnson, assisted by Carl Gail, was

the hotel keeper. Valentine J. Braun and his wife,
Lucy L. Braun came to Allendale in 1905. He owned
and operated the Allendale Hotel on the east side of
the railroad tracks.'”

Ernesto Castaldi, a schoolteacher who boarded
with Mrs. Cornelia Tamburello on Franklin Turnpike,
was manufacturing his Castaldi's Neapolitan Tomato
Sauce at Allendale by 1904. When he designed his label
for the sauce, he wanted a little child as its center-
piece. He found just the little girl he wanted — fellow
Allendale resident Alonzo Barrett's daughter, Laura.

CASTALDI'S

NEAPOLITAN TOMATO SHUSE
FOR MACA RONI 3

.
-

~
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3 EDIRECTIONOS—Cnok the macaroni in pienty of rapid|
boiling water; when done, drain them; warm the “Sauce™
and pour it aver !he caronl; If desirable, sprinkl

_ freshly-grated P or Romnﬂ cheese over the to]
then serve. Seum‘g\the dish a few minutes in the ov
will improve them.

'ERNESTO CASTALDI, Aﬂendq.le. N3
(&)
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A e A
Christopher’s Saw Mill, in the early 1900s.

And so dainty Laura Barrett’s picture graced countless
containers of tomato sauce."

After their sawmill on the brook near West
Crescent Avenue burned down in 1908, Richard J.
Christopher, son of Richard Christopher, ran a

Charlie Simon to take care of the business during the
day, and Barrett himself took over in the evening, tak-
ing people anywhere they wanted to go locally, includ-
ing from the railroad station to their homes,
sometimes as far as Saddle River. Barrett and his fam-
ily in 1906 lived in a house owned by William Kornhoff,
near his bakery, on Allendale Avenue east of the rail-
road station. The stable was in back of the house and
could be reached only by a dirt road that ran behind
the houses and stores. In 1909 Barrett moved his fam-
ily to the other side of Allendale Avenue, nearer the
railroad station to a house owned by Mr. Yeomans in
the triangle formed by Allendale and Myrtle Avenues.
This house was later moved to Myrtle Avenue.'™ "
Before 1916, Edward M. Williams was running a
livery service in the location later occupied by
Allendale’s Central Garage. In April 1916, according
to The Ramsey Journal, Eddie Williams" hack had
one of its front wheels knocked off by a passing car-

portable sawmill in Allendale. Richard
J. Christopher and his brother Jacob
Muried Christopher (J. M. Christopher),
were in the coal and lumber business
together as “Christopher Brothers” by
1912. They sold coal, lumber, and
building materials."”

Several livery stables operated in
Allendale’s early years as a borough.
By June of 1895, Frank H. Storms had
opened a livery stable in Mr. Yeomans’
barn. He not only had carriages for
hire, but he arranged for a baggage
express wagon to meet every train,
making it convenient for summer
boarders to get their trunks to and
from the station.

Jacob P. Beaver was running a liv-
ery stable by 1900 and at least until
1910. He and his family lived in the
house on West Allendale Avenue
which later became (about 1947) the
Allendale Bar & Grill.

Alonzo C. Barrett (“Lon™), ran a liv-
ery stable in Allendale from 1906 to
1912. Barrett's first livery stable was
located on a lane parallelling West
Allendale Avenue (running behind
today’s Allendale Bar and Grill). About
1909 the Barretts moved to a house
opposite the Allendale Hotel in the tri-
angle of land between West Allendale
Avenue and Myrtle Avenue. At this sec-
ond location, Lon Barrett continued to
run his livery stable. Barrett commut-
ed to Newark, working for Clark’s
ONT Spool Cotton Co. He employed

Barrett’s Livery Stable. Above, in Seplember 1908, when il was located on «
lane just west of West Allendale Avenue (behind what is today’s Allendale Bar
& Grill). Below, on May 29, 1911, when it was located across from the
Allendale Holel, in lhe triangle between West Allendale Avenue and Myrtle
Avenue. Standing in the doorway are Alonzo C. Barretl and Charlie Simon.
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riage. On January 10, 1917, Williams sold his business
to Christopher J. Slmth who employed George Hunt,
of Orchard Street.”

By 1914 the Brennan Brothers’ Livery Stable was
being operated in Allendale by John J. Brennan and
his brother. They were using an automobile in addi-
tion to horse-drawn vehicles by 1914. In May 1916 the
stable bought two “fine truck and carriage horses.” .

Joseph Henry Mallinson’s Cider Mill, on Franklin
Tuwrnpike opposite Archer Hall, had a new cider press,
according to a broadside printed about 1896. “Give the
New Press a Trial,” the poster said. Mallinson promised
low prices, clean cider, no delays, easy work, quick
delivery, and full measure for 1-1/2¢ per gallon. He had
purchased a Boomer & Boschert Press, the most pow-
erful in the world, and he was “now prepared to do
custom cider making in the very best manner, [and] an
inspection of the new and improved process” was
invited. The cider was pressed through cotton cloth,
and being free from pomace, would keep better than
when made by the old methods.”

The Ramsey Journal, in its issue of September 8,
1896, described the procedure at that time at the mill:
“A load of apples is driven up to the mill, shoveled
into a chute, from which they fall in buckets attached
to an endless chain, which carries them up to the
grater. After being reduced to a pulp, they descend
through a telescopic tube to the press where they are
rapidly formed in layers. Layer after layer is put up
and then the press is swung around by the screws.

’I'h,.o Braun “Flatiron Bualdmg, about 1912, showing
trolley at right of photograph.

This is also run by steam and has three speeds, which
run the press down in a few moments. A steam pump
then takes the juice to a tank above, where it is
strained, and from there runs in the barrels in your
wagon by means of a hose. In less than a half hour a
load of apples is converted into cider and is on your
wagon ready to take home.”

In April 1897, Edward E. Burtis’'s Allendale Mill
burned to the ground, along with an ice house which had
been filled with ice by Mr. Goodyear. Burtis did not
rebuild, and the mill site was sold, sometime before 1911,
to Benjamin F. Hutches, Jr., who named his estate there
“San Jacinto” after the site in his home state of Texas.”

Arthur H. Walton had moved to Allendale, proba-

Mallinson’s Cider Mill, Franklin Turnpike.
about 1900-1905. Below, aboul 1910.

bly from Ridgewood, by 1908. He ran the Walton Real
Estate and Insurance Business and had an office on
Pine Street in New York City as well. Walton’s son, A.
Hobart Walton, was later a long-time mayor of
Oakland, N.J. Walton evidently lived at and devel-
oped property on what became East Orchard Street,
which was known in 1907 as Walton Avenue in
“Walton Heights, formerly Shady Side Park in the
Village of Allendale, Bergen County, N..J. Lt

In 1911, the Braun building just east of the Allendale
Hotel was built. The building later came to be called the

: Above, Flatiron Building, because of its triangular shape.

Henry N. Thurston came to Allendale from Saddle
River and began his automotive garage and service

station in 1911 — the Allendale Garage on Franklin
Turnpike on the old Mallinson Cider Mill site oppo-
site Archer Hall. He was the Bergen County agent for
“Make-A-Truck,” which offered the makings of a
truck for $350. About March 1916, he opened a sec-
ond business in Hackensack.

An office of the First National Bank of Ramsey
was opened in the store of William F. Kornhoff in
February 1914. The office accepted deposits on
Mondays and Thursdays, between the hours of 2:30
and 3:45 p.m. Mr. Kornhoff, a member of the

Allendale Board of Trade, was instrumental in bring-
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Above, the Allendale Meat Mmism‘ run by Hopper
Yemnm@s and later by James E. Simpson. Photo taken
about 1909. The buildings on the right arve the
Kornhoff building and the Max Scholz home and bar-
bershop on Myrtle Avenue. On the far right is the
Winler grocery store, which stood on the site of today’s
Post Office building. Below, another view of the same
buildings, in a photograph taken August 15, 1909.

ing the bank office to Allendale, and offered the use
of his store rent-free in order to make the banking
service available to Allendale residents. This early
branch was discontinued when it was discovered that
banking laws prohibited such a branch office.

Theodore R. Price ran a meat market in Allendale
in the early 1900s. An account book he kept in 1912
shows the following costs of various meats at that
time: one pound of bacon, 22¢; a 6-1/2-pound ham,
$1.13; a 3-pound pot roast, 45¢; a pound of frank-
furters, 17¢; and a 5-3/4-pound leg of lamb, $1.15. By
January 1917, he had started a “travehng meat mar-
ket, selling meat from a wagon. i L

Mabel McLaughlin (of Bethlehem, Pennsylvania)
and Edith Christenson (of Arlington, New Jersey) ran
the Knickerbocker Chocolate House by May 1915 in a
cottage built in 1908 for Elwood H. Moore at 755
Franklin Turnpike. The business was apparently
operated only in the summer; it closed for the season

on November 1, 1915. In December 1917 the cottage
was destroyed by fire and The Ramsey Jowrnal
reported that “The house was well known in this sec-
tion as the ‘Chocolate House.” A portion of the valu-
able hand-carved furniture was saved, but all that
remained of the building was walls and a chimney.
The property was sold in 1919 and the house was
rebuilt that year using the walls and chimney that
remained from the previous structure. i

By March 1915 work had begun on the Guatelli
Building being built in the business section of town on
the Plaza. The brick building was constructed for John
and Louis Guatelli by Charles S. McPeek. On March 15,
1915 the cellar was being excavated. The building was
completed by August 30, when Louis Guatelli opened
a confectionery and drug store in the building.

Keck’s Dry Goods Store opened in the Guatelli
Building on September 24, 1915 and Herbert Winter
noted in his diary that the store sold “the first suit of
clothes ever sold in the town.”

H. Ryerson opened a barber shop in Allendale in
the spring of 1917, first in the Gasparini building, but
moving by May across the railroad tracks to a store-
front in the Plttls block of stores opposite the
Allendale Hotel.”

On May 17, 1916 the Magnet Grocery Store
opened, in the Guatelli Building, just west of the Keck
Dry Goods Store. This store was part of a chain of
Magnet stores, and the A]lendale business was man-
aged by D. Henry Zabriskie.”

Herman De Hossen, a retired New York restaurant
proprietor, opened, on December 6, 1915, a hardware
store in the Guatelli Building. The short-lived busi-
ness was discontinued about April 15, 1916.”

James E. Simpson was running his meat market,
probably as successor to Hopper Yeomans, by 1915.
Simpson was in business until at least 1929. In April
1916, when three hogs escaped from a freight train pass-
ing through Allendale, Simpson and Frank Austin caught
two of them and slaughtered them. A third hog, reported
The Ramsey Journal on April 13, “is believed to be
somewhere in the woods adjacent to Orchard Street.”

On June 6, 1917 the A & P grocery store was
opened in Allendale, in the Guatelli Building. The
manager of the store was Mr. Yearling.

Tradespeople in Allendale during this era includ-
ed Ryerson Ackerson (a masonry contractor, by
1880), C. P. Morgan (a plumber, who had an office
about 1911 in the newly completed Braun Building);
L. E. Rossner, plumber; Miss F. Hillman (who made,
trimmed, and remodeled hats at her West Maple
Avenue home in 1916); and H. B. Ivers (dealer in cof-
fee, tea, and spices in 1908).

Builders and building contractors in Allendale at
this time included James Webb and his sons; John W.
Rudolph; Stephen Van Blarcom; and S. T. Van Houten.
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Dr. George Havell came from South Amboy to
open a dental practice May 1, 1916 in an office in the
Joseph Mallinson home on West Allendale Avenue.
He later lived in the Guatelli building and had an
office above Mrs. Clark’s dry goods store (by June
1918). About June 1918 he made his home in one of
Dr. Pittis's houses on Myrtle Avenue. By September
1920 his office was in Ramsey.

FArRMS

Several farmers continued to raise crops during
these early years of the borough, but with every pass-
ing year farms disappeared and new houses sprung
up in their place.

Strawberries were still a popular local crop,
though not grown in the huge quantities of bygone
years. By 1920 the truck farms still being worked in
Allendale were Appert’s farm, John J. Vanderbeck’s
farm on East Crescent Avenue, Charles Ackerson’s
on Franklin Turnpike, and Daniel Van Blarcom’s on
Hillside Avenue (poultry and fruit). The Wilson and
Arlt farms, off East Crescent Avenue, still grew gar-
den crops and strawberries, and during the strawber-
ry season, Allendale boys and girls were recruited to
help with the picking. Both William (“Bub™) Buhlman
and his brother-in-law, Bill Robinson, could remem-
ber picking strawberries as kids in Allendale, on,
among other places, the Wilson farm.”

Helyn (“Tiny”) Anthony Meyer of Allendale
remembered “We picked strawberries at John
Appert’s farm in Saddle River. John met us at the corner
of Franklin Turnpike and Allendale Avenue. He drove us
to his farm. We picked strawberries all day during the
short season, and were

William D. Lutz was working a dairy farm on West
Crescent Avenue until 1920 or later and Fred Rogers
ran a dairy farm in Allendale. Arthur Bull Sullivan
moved his family to Allendale about 1911 and began
his “Sable Feather Farm” on Franklin Turnpike. He
was a hobby breeder, exporter, and importer of S. C.
Black Orpington chickens. His farm was known as
one of the finest in the state, and he had the cable
address of “Sable Sully.” <

By 1916, Fred J. Crick was raising Rhode Island
Reds and S.C.W. Leghorns on his Orchard Poultry Farm
on East Crescent Avenue. By May 1916 he had built a
new chicken building and run, which made a total of
five separate chicken buildings on his farm. The fol-
lowing year he raised over 10,000 incubator chicks.™

In addition to these larger poultry farms, during
this era many Allendale residents kept a few chickens
for their own use and to sell their eggs for a little
extra income. Included in this number was James
McNelley, who called his home on Hillside Avenue
“Edgewood,” and who advertised “Eggs, Unsurpassed
for the Table, Sanitary, Fresh, Guaranteed.”

CHURCHES
The Episcopal Church of the Epiphany

In April 1895 the Allendale Mayor and Council
granted the Church of the Epiphany a permit to move
their chapel. The old “Chapel in the Willows” building
was moved along Franklin Turnpike in May or early
June 1895 from its former site on or near the north-
east corner of Franklin Turnpike and Chapel Road
(the name then for what is now Cottage Place) to a
lot on the northeast corner of Franklin Turnpike and

paid two cents a quart.
We always ate the largest
berries, and we each
tried to pick fifty quarts a
day. At the end of the day
we had to walk home
from Saddle River.” ™"
Except for Appert’s
Allendale Produce Farm,
and a few relatively
small truck farms, most
of the farming land in
Allendale by 1916 had
been subdivided for
home-building plots.
The farmland remain-
ing in Allendale now
tended toward smaller
acreage and different
production: dairy farm-
ing and poultry raising.

The Episcopal Mission of the Epiphany church building on Franklin Turnpike
about 1903-1905. At this time the church faced Franklin Turnpike. At left is the
church Parish House, as yet nol connected by a cloister to the church.
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The Episcopal Mission of the Epiphany, in a pholo-
graph taken about 1910 by Sam Brower.

East Orchard Street. The church building was situat-
ed at its new location with its entrance facing
Franklin Turnpike. The Chapel reopened at its new
location in June 1895.% ™

On September 6, 1896, the Rev. William Earnest
Allen was appointed to the Mission and on April 11,
1898, Edward G. Washburne first officiated as Warden.
In 1900 Rev. J. Q. Archdeacon served the Mission for a
year, until June 1901 when James William Jackson
came for the summer as lay reader from the General
Seminary in New York, and remained in charge
throughout the following winter. In 1902 Jackson was
ordained. Rev. Jackson remained with the church until
his death in January 1918.

Turnpike), the chapel was connected to the Parish
House by a cloister, and it was at this time that the
entire chapel structure was shingled.

In 1907 the Rev. C. H. S. Hartman was installed as
pastor of the Church of the Epiphany. In the same
year a tablet was placed in the building in commem-
oration of Daniel Aborn Smith’s 30 years of service as
lay reader and Warden.” ™

In 1904 and 1905, members of the Allendale con-
gregation who lived in Ramsey organized St. John’s
Mission in their own community, meeting first in the
Odd Fellows’ Hall there. By March of 1905 nearly
$1,500 had been donated toward the building of a
Ramsey parish house, and George Crocker donated
funds for a church in memory of his wife, Emma
Hanchett Crocker, who had died in New York during
the previous summer. Edwin Carpenter donated a
plot of ground for the building. Allendale’s William
Dewsnap designed a part stone Norman-style build-
ing, which was erected at a total cost of about
$13,000 on the eastern corner of Main and Arch
Streets in Ramsey. The Church of St. John’s opened
on February 25, 1906.

Archer Memorial Methodist Church

In 1897 the Rev. Charles C. Winans became the
pastor of the Archer Memorial Methodist Church.
The Rev. W. A. Knox arrived as pastor in 1902, Rew.
Louis F. Bowman in 1904, Rev. H. B. Leach (or Leech)
in 1908, and the Rev. Charles Scott Woodruff began

In 1902 the need for

more space for the Sunday
School and meetings of the
various organizations of
the Mission, resulted in the
planning and building of a
Parish House, designed by
architect William Dew-
snap of Allendale.

In early 1905 the con-
gregation had mounted a
fund drive to raise $1,000.
to remodel, repair, and
enlarge the church build-
ing. The church at that
time seated only 70 per-
sons, and the aim of the
drive was to double the
seating capacity. When the
work was completed in
1907, the entrance to the
renovated building faced
East  Orchard  Street
(instead of  Franklin

Archer Memorial Methodist Episcopal Church in May 1906.
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Archer Memorial Methodist Church. Photo taken

about 1910-1915 by Sam Brower.

his pastorate in April 1911.

In 1903 electric lighting was installed at Archer
Hall, and the lights were ready for use by the time of
the church’s annual fair in August of that year.
Additional work was completed by reopening day,
May 20, 1906, when exterior and interior photographs
of the building were taken." "

Guardian Angel Roman Catholic Mission

In 1903 the first Catholic masses were said in
Linkroum'’s hall for about ten Catholic families in
Allendale. The purpose of this mass was to determine
the number of Catholic families in the town. Among
those early Catholic families were the Apperts,
McDermotts, Hebers, Shermans, Gasparinis, and

O'Briens. The Rev. P. T. Carew came from
Ridgewood, where he was pastor of Mount Carmel
Church, to celebrate this first Mass. John Appert
served as altar boy.

Within the next ten years the Catholic population
of Allendale grew to 20 families, adding the Bijous,
Bloomers, Donahues, Farleys, Hickeys, Higginses,
Knacks, Walshes, Tierneys, Scafuros, and Goussets.
In September 1913 St. Luke’s Church in Ho-Ho-Kus
(the first Bergen County Catholic Church, founded in
the 1860s) established a mission in Allendale. In
September 1913 Catholic services began, held by
Father Patrick F. Pindar, pastor of St. Luke’s, in Henry
J. Appert’s gymnasium-recreation room above the
garage at 1 Cottage Place. %, 50

In November and December of 1913 the house on
the corner of Maple and Elm Streets was bought from
Benjamin F. Hutches and renovated to be used as a
Catholic Church. There was a seating capacity of 125
on the first floor and rooms on the second floor had
been renovated for Sunday School and parish pur-
poses. Extra support columns had been installed
under the first floor. According to Ella Appert, how-
ever, the second floor was never used, and the stair-
way was removed.' ! *

From its establishment in 1914 until 1954 the
church was a mission of St. Luke’s Church and was
served by priests from the church in Ho-Ho-Kus.

DALy LIFE AND RECREATION

Alonzo Barrett’s daughter, Laura, remembered life
in her grandparents’ house on Franklin Turnpike in
the early 1900s. She recalled watching her grand-

mother Ivers wash dishes

Archer Memorial Meﬂmdrst Eprscapal Church in 1906, interior. J. Muried
Christopher, who mailed (on July 9, 1906 to his mother) the postcard from which
this photo was taken, wrote on the front, “View on Reopening Day, May 20, 1906.

in two pans of water on the
stove (to keep the water
hot) — one with suds from
handmade soap, and one
with clear water for rins-
ing. Water was also heated
on the stove (the only
means of heating water in
those days) for clothes
washing and bathing. She
remembered a rocking
chair in the kitchen for
chores that could be done
while sitting. There was a
small metal sink and a
water pump in one corner
of the kitchen, and a trap
door in the floor (lifted by
a large iron ring and a
device with ropes, pulleys,
and weights) to access the
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stone steps to the dark, dirt floor cel-
lar, used to store vegetables, crocks
of pickles, and other foodstuffs.

In those days clothes were washed
in tubs, outdoors in the summer, and
in the kitchen in the winter. White
clothes were boiled with soap and
bleach in a (usually copper) washtub,
then lifted out with a stick and
deposited in the first of three addi-
tional tubs, where homemade soap
was rubbed on the clothes using a
corrugated washboard. The clothes
were then wrung out, by hand or by a
manually operated wringer, and put
into the second tub, containing clear
rinse water. Here they were swished

T s

through the rinse water and then
wrung out again. Then they were put
into the third tub, containing blueing

The view looking south along Franklin Turnpike in 1906. On the
left is Archer Memorial Methodist Church.

water. Some were then starched, and

then again wrung out and hung out to dry. This chore
took nearly all day, and was usually done on Monday.
Tuesday was ironing day, using sad irons which were
heated on the wood stove. As they cooled with use,
they were reheated and were replaced by others
which had been heating on the stove.

There were no bathrooms at this time, and every
bedroom had its own washstand equipped with a
pitcher, basin, soap dish, towels, and wash cloths.
There were also potties and slop jars, which had to be
cleaned each day. She remembered that homes at this
time had what were called water closets or back
houses — small wooden buildings with no windows,
but usually an opening above the door to let in light
and air. Frequently a new moon shape was carved in
the door or sides to let in a little more light, and a
Sears Roebuck catalog hung on a nail in case there
was no tissue paper. Most people’s back houses were
quite a few feet away from the main house, and were
generally hidden by lilac bushes or similar shrubbery.

Her grandfather, Alfred E. Ivers, was a music
lover and had a hand-cranked phonograph with cylin-
drical records near his Morris chair, where he would
sit for hours and listen to Caruso sing. He also had
some Uncle Josh records to please the children.

There was no electricity or gas in those days, so
all lighting in the house was by kerosene lamps —
she was fascinated as she watched her grandmother
Ivers pull down the Tiffany stained glass lamp that
hung in the hall, light the wick and push the lamp
back up. The lamp chimneys and globes had to be
cleaned and the wicks trimmed every day, a job that
in the Ivers household at that time fell to Aunt Sadie.

In 1909 the Barrett family moved to a house
across the street from the Allendale Hotel. While liv-

ing in this house, Laura and her sister Marion had diph-
theria. They had to stay in their room and no one but
their mother was permitted to enter. A sheet, soaked
with a disinfectant, was hung in the doorway, but
when their mother wasn't looking, their sisters Alice
and Mildred, would lift the sheet to show them their
dolls and other things they were playing with. In those
days, after every contagious illness, the house had to
be fumigated. After the Barrett girls were again well,
the entire family left the house for several hours while
formaldehyde candles were burned to kill the germs.

She also remembered being impressed as a child
by the number of sleighs used for wintertime deliver-
ies of produce, milk, meats and such. She remem-
bered that as children, she and her friends
“succeeded sometimes in hitching rides on the broad
runners of the sleighs — dangerous, but fun. There
was plenty of sleigh riding — coasting, that is — and
bobsledding, too. We would start at the top of the
gate house hill, before it was cut down to make it less
steep, and ride all the way to Van Houten’s and
Nimmo’s [on Franklin Turnpike].” '“

Helyn Anthony Meyer remembered sleigh riding
on Christopher’s hill on Park Avenue, where
Allendale kids would coast down the long hill on
their sleds. “A good strong rope on our Flexible
Flyers was necessary so that we could hook on to the
big horse-driven sleighs that the coal, feed, grain and
logging owners used in the winter. R. J. Christopher
had horse-driven logging sleighs on which he carted
logs from Saddle River to his saw mill in Allendale.
We would wait for an empty sleigh going to Saddle
River and hook our sleds on it. We would ride over the
hills to Saddle River [where] we would wait for a log-
filled sleigh going back to Allendale.
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time carried columns of “Bicycle
Notes,” and local cycling clubs were
formed, including the Mount Prospect
Wheelmen and the Ramapo Valley
Wheelmen. In Allendale, in January
1900 it was reported that grocer John
Winter had bought himself a bike and
was training for the next six days race
in New York City."

In the spring months Allendale kids
looked for the first sign of spring —
the pussy willows found in many
Allendale fields. Other wild plants that
grew freely in Allendale in those days
— many of them in the woods —
included yellow buttercups, white and
blue violets, Jack-in-thePulpit, dog

The dam at Smith's pond on Brookside Avenue. The view is looking
north from the Brookside Avenue bridge. This photo, dating from

about 1910, was taken by Sam Brower.

tooth violets, wild pink azaleas, and
skunk cabbage. There were also wild
huckleberries growing throughout
Allendale, many of them on the

“There were a few people who had a horse and
sleigh called a ‘cutter.” Mr. DeMauriac, who lived at the
end of Brookside Avenue at the Wyckoff line, had one
of those cutters. We could hook on his cutter and have
a good ride on the snowy roads.”™ Other Allendale
people remembered sleighriding on Hillside Avenue,
where the kids would often tie ten sleds together.

Ice skating and ice hockey were winter favorites,
too. In December 1900 it was reported that a few very
cold nights had “brought joy to the hearts of the boys
by providing skating. Wednesday Burtis’ Pond had
about 3 inches of black ice and afforded fine skating
to a large number after school hours.” Ice skating
also took place on Mallinson’s pond (later made into
Crestwood Lake) and Hutches' pond (later San
Jacinto swim club).

In the fall months there were strawrides, many of
which went to Hackensack or Paterson. Young peo-
ple from Allendale would take a burlap bag and go to
Saddle River in the fall to go nutting. They would find
hickory nuts and black walnuts, and take them home
to dry. “How good they were when we cracked them
open during the winter,” Helyn Anthony Meyer
remembered. On Halloween, Allendale kids used to
walk up Hillside Avenue to the big white house of Mr.
Gousset, who was in the candy business in New York.
He would always hand out candy bars as trick-or-
treat confections. The bigger boys delighted in over-
turning all the outdoor privies at Halloween time. £

Bicycling continued to be a popular pastime, and
races were often held, including some at the
Hohokus race track. By summer of 1894 it was said
that one out of every 180 inhabitants of the United
States owned or rode a bicycle. Newspapers of the

Anthony property where later, in 1929,
Brookside School would be built. More huckleberries
grew in the fields that later were developed as Dale
Avenue. Other wild berries included blackberries,
black caps, and elderberries. Elderberries were often
picked and made into wine.”’

Even after the Turnpike was paved about 1910-15
(by a man from Ridgewood named Brackett, as
William Buhlman remembered), Laura Barrett
recalled very little traffic on it. She remembered that
soon after it was paved, she and her sisters Alice and
Mildred, along with some friends, roller-skated all the
way to Ridgewood on the newly surfaced road. She
also remembered that some local folks were unhappy
with the paving, because they felt it was too hard for
their horses’ hooves. Buhlman recalled that Franklin
Turnpike at that time was the only street in Allendale

Lake San Jacinto, home of the B. F. Hutches fam@ly,
posteard view, about 1915.
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water wings to be sure we wouldn't drown! We fastened
a blanket around a few trees, as the pond was in the
woods, and changed into our bathing suits in private.” &

There have been suggestions that someone famil-
iar with sailing on the Hudson River may have named
the swimming spot. The Hudson River is divided by
sailors into sections, one of which is known as
Longrack.

Shirley White Cross remembered another swim-
ming place the kids called “the 6 B's,” which stood for
“bad boys, bare bombosity bathing beach.”

John G. Hubbard remembered fishing, and playing

as a child near Appert’s farm. “The brook leading down

et along the turnpike was where we used to get our pick-

Smith’s Pond on Brookside Avenue. Both views date | erel belly bait to capture the big ones over in

from about 1908-1910. Mallinson’s Pond before it became the swimming pool

. —— - [Crestwood Lake].” Y The Souvenir, published by the

Archer Memorial Methodist Church, in its December

15, 1894 issue reported, “A pickerel twenty-one inches

in length was found in Mr. R. Christopher’s lake a few

days since. What a shame he wasn’t caught by pole and
line instead of getting fast in the mud!”

William Buhlman remembered that kids made
their own sports. They played football and baseball
and he adopted the sidewalk in front of the Flatiron
Building as his official marble round. Long before
organized Little League, Allendale kids “had pick-up
baseball teams” that played on baseball diamonds in
what became Memorial Park and later in what was
called Recreation Park, on the corner of West Crescent
and West Allendale Avenues. Describing the baseball

;,__
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\(r L

that was paved. diamond in Memorial Park, Buhlman recalled “there
Summertime recreation included swimming, lawn was a grandstand that backed on the Critchley’s prop-
tennis, boating, and fishing and the favorite Allendale erty [William G. Z. Critchley’s — earlier the Parigot

swimming places included Hutches’
pond (later Lake San Jacinto), Smith's
pond (on Brookside Avenue, formerly
a mill-pond), a natural pool called
White Bridge (named for the bridge
there that was painted white in those
days) in the stream that comes out of
Crestwood and crosses Crescent
Avenue, and in the spot called
Longrack, a couple of hundred feet
long and perhaps fifty feet wide in the
brook down in the woods near New
Street, where two brooks met to make
a larger stream.

Marston Potter recalled that the
section of the brook behind his par-
ents’ home on West Crescent Avenue
was already called Longrack when
they moved to Allendale in 1909.* -

Laura Barrett Haviland remembered | An Allendale baseball team of the early 1900s. The team was prob-
Longrack as being only about waist | @bly managed by George Nimmo who is shown standing, 3rd from
deep, but even so, “we kids used our | e left (not in uniform,).

."i
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house]. The left fielder stood out on Mallinson Street,
the center fielder stood on the junction of Mallinson
Street and Brookside Avenue, and the right fielder
stood out on Brookside.”

By the late 1890’s Allendale boasted of two base-
ball teams: The Allendale Huckleberries listed the fol-
lowing players: Robert L. Nimmo, left field; Mr.
Cunningham, right field; William C. Talman, center
field; Jacob P. Beaver, short stop; Dr. Godfrey Pittis,
third base; Frank L. Drummond, second base;
Stephen J. Van Blarcom,

were also playing in 1915. They were managed by
Charles L. Weyand, and on Memorial Day they played
the Neversweats of Ridgewood at the Ridgewood
Y.M.C.A,, “looking dandy in their new baseball uni-
forms.” Players on the junior team (aged 13-15)
included Burtis Griffiths, Kenneth Fisher, George
Wilson, Harry Simpson, Kenneth Murphy, R.
Ackerman, J. Wilson, Maxwell Dewsnap, J. Winters,
Edgar Austin, and Otto Vanderbeck. The team was
driven to Ridgewood in automobiles, one belonging

to Mr. Schilling. Stanley

first base; J. W. Spring,
pitcher; and Stephen T. Van
Houten, catcher. The
Crimson Ramblers listed
their players as Percy Doty,
left field; Theodore Smith,
right field; William Dewsnap,
center field; Frederick A.
Willard, short stop; Edgar
Hubbard, third base; John B.
Willard, pitcher; and Frank S.
Merrill, catcher.

Baseball continued to be
so popular that in July of
1895, the Council of the
recently formed borough
gave the Allendale Base Ball
Club permission to improve
the ball grounds on the park
(in what is now Memorial
Park, corner of Brookside
and Park Avenues) and to
play ball there any time
except Sundays.” In June of
1899, however, the Council
ordered the club to remove
the seats and stands th(,y
had erected at the pdrk In
1900 the Allendale Baseball

team of 1913-1914.
Standing, left to vight, are Stephen T. Van Houten,
Jr., Sam Prilchetl, and an unidentified player.
Seated arve Whiting Anthony, Oliver Asten (?), and
George Buldman. The photograph was laken oulside
the new Allendale Fire House by Sam Brower.

An Al!endnh’ Imslmibu{!

Fisher was u:n(})lre at many
of their games.

William Buhlman remem-
bered Powell Road at that
time as just a dirt road,
where they used to have
turkey shoots and they shot
down clay birds. On the
north side of Orchard Street
he remembered the old
Garrison-Berdan House
which stood on the approxi-
mate site of today's A & P.
He also recalled Garrison’s
Pond, near the house (on the
east side of what is today
DeMercurio Drive). “Orchard
Street was just a dirt road
that ended back in the woods
and they used to go back
there every year at Christmas
to get a collection of
Christmas trees for the
schoolhouse.”

Buhlman also remem-
bered the log cabin in the
woods on the Potter proper-
ty on Crescent Avenue.
George M. Potter built the

Club was affiliated with a
70-man group called the
Allendale Athletic Association.

George P. Nimmo was managing an Allendale
baseball team, and was its captain, in August 1909. By
1915 Charles F. Smith was managing an Allendale
baseball team. Players on this team included Whiting
Anthony, Roy Dockery, Allen Burtis, Everett Burtis,
Jack Forshay, and Jack McDermott. The Allendale
Browns were playing in 1916, when their manager
was George P. Nimmo (his brother, Frank Nimmo
was pitching for the All-Paterson baseball team in
May 1916). Players on the 1916 Allendale team
included C. Buhlman, A. Burtis, E. Burtis, Nimmo,
and John McDermott.

A junior baseball team in Allendale, The Ivanhoes,

cabin for his son, Marston,
and after William Cody
(“Buffalo Bill"), a family friend, visited the place, they
renamed the cabin “Cody cabin.” Cody knew the fam-
ily because Mrs. Potter’s father, William Walker
Marston, was a famous gunsmith who made guns for
William Cody. William Walker Marston invented the
repeating rifle and machines that improved the cut-
ting of marble in Europe. His daughter, Harriett
Marston Potter, was an inventor herself, patenting, in
1916, a garment hamz.;;er.‘ln

The Cody log cabin was an exciting meeting and
camping-out place for dozens of Allendale boys and
girls for many years. Various groups, including scouts
and Y.M.C.A. boys’ clubs, met in the cabin or spent
rustic nights sleeping there. The Ramsey Journal of



1913 map of the Allendale area from the Bromley Atlas of Bergen County.
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December 18, 1919 reported that Y.M.C.A. boys from
Ridgewood had recently “enjoyed a night's primitive
life in Marston Potter’s log cabin.”

Bub Buhlman remembered that when he was
about nine or ten, Buffalo Bill's Wild West Show came
to Paterson and they all went to see it. “I can still
remember him coming out on a white horse with a
buckskin suit and his goatee and a big Indian throw-
ing up tar balls and he was popping them off with his
Sharp’s rifle.” ¥

Basketball was played in Allendale on an organized
basis as early as 1911, when two Allendale teams — the
S.C.A. basketball team and the Bergen Guards basket-
ball team — played in a series of games for the borough
championship. Players on the two teams included
Stephen Van Houten, Stanley Fisher, Theodore
Blackmore, -?- Spratto, and Carlton Hutchinson for the
S.C.A. team, and Charles Buhlman, George Buhlman, .J.
Hubbard, John W. Steele, Percy Fisher, and John R.
McDermott for the Bergen Guards. The referee for
games was C. Ackerman, and Samuel Pritchett served
as umpire.”

In 1915 the Allendale Basketball Association
elected its officers: Charles Buhlman, captain;
Bernard deHossen, treasurer; and George Buhlman,
manager. The team had won the Bergen County
championship in 1914. In 1915 the team consisted of
Whiting Anthony, Charles F. Buhlman, George
Buhlman, Bernard DeHossen, H. Fleming, F. Milne,
and Gordon Milne. The home games in 1915 were
played at the Allendale Fire House and dancing fol-
lowed each game.

Players on the junior basketball team in 1915
included William Buhlman, George Wilson, Ellsworth
S. Thomas, Robert W. Fisher, and Frank .
Drummond.” !

A girls’ basketball team in 1918 included Betty
Anthony, Nancy Barnes, Mabel Knack, Mary Hutches,
Ethel Braun, Edna Grossman, Mary Robinson, Clara
Nealis, Gertrude Robinson, and Rose Holman.™

In May 1914, the field on the southeast corner of
West Allendale Avenue and West Crescent Avenue,
which had informally been used previously as a ball-
field, was made into a borough park, and called
Recreation Park. Mayor Gustave Nadler and Charles
L. Weyand had been instrumental in the establish-
ment of a public recreational area. In February 1914,
as a fund raiser for a public recreational park,
William Ackerman took charge of a minstrel troupe
which had given a performance at the Fire House.
The park opened on May 30, 1914 with a new ball
field and swimming pool. The following winter a
skating pond was opened at the park, created by
banking up earth around a low marshy section of the
grounds. The ice on this skating rink was four inches
thick by early December 1915.% >

-l 4 N b 4, Fhh
An Allendale basketball team, 1916-1917. Standing,
left to right: Richard Ackerman, Burtis Griffiths,
Frank Drummond. Seated, front, George Wilson,
William Buhlman, and Kenneth Fisher.

The land for the park was initially leased by the
borough, from John I. Yeomans and others. A new
ball field and a concrete swimming pool were fea-
tures of this new park." In the spring of 1915 John D.
Walsh donated lumber and others donated funds for
the building of a grandstand for the ballfield at
Recreation Park. John W. Rudolph built the grand-
stand. Donations toward its construction were made
by Mr. Knack, Mr. Hamilton, Dr. Pittis, Mr. Nadler, Mr.
Braun, Mr. Tomalin, Mr. Arlt, William Dewsnap, Mr.
Sturchler, Guatelli Brothers, Mr. Strunk, William
McGill, Mr. Lang, Mr. Hudson, P. W. Critchley, Joseph
M. Steele, Cy Gousset, Mr. Rouse, Mr. Sullivan,
Robert Shamback, and W. Merrill."

In 1917 four parcels of land, comprising the
acreage of today’s Recreation Park, were purchased
by the borough. The four parcels of land, comprising
over 10 acres, fronted on West Crescent Avenue and
West Allendale Avenue, with a brook running through
the property. They were purchased from the estate of
Margaret Van Houten Yeomans (her husband, John L.
Yeomans, had died in 1888; this parcel was 0.878
acres); John A. Mallinson and William H. Mallinson
(6.132 acres), Laura J. Anthony and Sophia A. Lelts
(3.397 acres), and the Hamilton Trust Company (0.64
acres).

Holidays have a long tradition of being celebrated
with great style and fervor in Allendale. On Labor
Day in 1900, for instance, the 70-man Allendale
Athletic Association sponsored and organized a pro-
gram of races and games for the town’s young people.
A baseball game between the boys of Allendale and
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Waldwick was held, and games and races for young
boys were held, including a 100-yard dash, broad
jump, apple race, and 3-legged race. There was even
a greased pig, which when released ran for the
woods, but which was caught by George Nimmo
(who would later become sheriff of Bergen
County).”

In 1915, the Mayor and Council appointed a com-
mittee to work with representatives from other orga-
nizations in town to organize and plan a celebration
to celebrate Allendale’s “Coming of Age.” Allendale
would turn 21 years old in the fall, and a three-day
festival and carnival was planned at Recreation Park
for Labor Day weekend, September 4, 5, and 6.
Serving on the Mayor’s Committee were Mrs. J. J.
Murphy, Mrs. V. J. Braun, Mrs. F. Hilbert, Dr. Godfrey
Pittis, Benjamin F. Hutches Jr., and John Hamilton.
Others working with the committee were, for the
Village Improvement Association, Mrs. S. T. Van
Houten, Mrs. W. M. Carver, and Mrs. R. W. Rodman;
for the Allendale Baseball Association, Charles F
Smith, Whiting Anthony, and George Nimmo; for the
Allendale Board of Trade, Arthur Tomalin, Arthur
Bull Sullivan, and W. Critchley; for the Allendale Fire
Department, Val J. Braun, W. W. Dewsnap, and Fred
Koster; and for the Allendale Shade Tree
Commission, J. W. Rudolph, Max P. Arlt, and Charles
Weyand. Together, these volunteers formed an
Allendale Carnival Association to plan the festival.

Mr. Edward G. Washburne, on behalf of a com-
mittee in charge of a fourth of July celebration a few
years earlier, turned over to the coming of age festi-
val a check for $39 representing the committee’s
unexpended balance. Arthur Bull Sullivan donated a
set of swings for Recreation Park, to remain as a per-
manent improvement. John Yeomans gave permis-
sion to use part of his land for the festival, and
sixteen firemen volunteered to assist John Hamilton,
head of police, in regulating traffic.

Various attractions and booths were planned to
supplement the existing swimming pool and water
sports, and the ball field, where two baseball games
were planned. Spectacular lighting effects were
devised for the events, which included dancing and
music, a cut glass booth, an African Dip (in the
charge of Whiting Anthony and the Allendale baseball
team; the Mahwah Fire Department was to lend their
“Dip” apparatus), a grill and cabaret, a toy booth
(selling, among other things, sailboats, to be floated
on the pool), and fishing ponds for both children and
grown-ups.’

On July 4, 1916, Mr. and Mrs. George M. Potter
gave one of their frequent holiday parties on the
grounds of their home on West Crescent Avenue. The
grounds were strung with electrically lighted
Japanese lanterns, including lanterns around the
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Above, a holiday gathering at the George M. Potter
home on West Crescent Avenue, July 4, 1910.
Below, the Potler home decorated with flags and

Japanese lanterns for a holiday celebration.

pond, where canoe rides were a popular feature.
Refreshments were set up on the large porch, and a
platform had been set up for dancing. One of the
main features of the evening was a display of fire-
works.

CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS

In the summer of 1900, the Allendale Athletic
Association was made up of about 70 men. They
sponsored and organized, among other events, base-
ball games and a Labor Day program that year.

A Fish and Game Association was organized in
1902 and held its meetings at Linkroum’s Hall. By
1917, a similar organization, the Allendale Rod and
Gun Club, had been organized, and the officers cho-
sen in December of that year were Alonzo Abbott,
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Walter Steele, Louis Rossner, and William G.
Ackerson.

In December 1903, a third Allendale Village
Improvement Association was formed by a group of
civic-minded women of the community. This group,
often called the “Ladies’ VIA” to differentiate it from
the two earlier organizations of the same name,
formed committees to look after the borough park
(later Memorial Park), to plant and care for flowers
in the plaza near the train

The organization’s official name was Vigilantia B.G.
Constanter. The group of about two dozen teenagers
was formed by, and was under the supervision of,
Captain Harry 1. Hand. Hand worked for the
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and was a
Captain in the Guard in Brooklyn. Outfitted in smart
uniforms (khaki for drilling and blue for dress), the
boys in this group were instructed in fancy drills,
marching, handling arms, and fundamental army tac-
tics. They demonstrated

station, to organize an
annual clean-up garbage
pickup, and to help with
the Allendale Library.

In order to implement
its projects, the Ladies’
VIA held various fund-
raisers including enter-
tainments such as the
1904 production of “Tom
Cobb,” a three-act comedy
by W. S. Gilbert. Appear-
ing in the play were Mr. L.

J. Griffen, Miss Edna
Haring, Mr.  William

their  precision  at
parades and in special
monthly performances
given at Archer Hall and
later at the new Fire
House. The drills at the
Fire House, on the first
Tuesday of the month,
were open to the public,
and dancing took 8p[au:re
after each meeting.” ™ >

Two other “Bergen
Guards” were active in
Allendale at this time —
the Bergen Guards bas-

Dewsnap, Miss Sadie

Ivers, Mr. H. O. Hashagen, Mrs. William Dewsnap, Mr.
Theodore Smith, Mr. Alonzo C. Barrett, Mrs. William
K. Walton, and Mr. Wallace E. Carver.

Officers of the Ladies’ VIA in 1904 were Mrs.
Alfred W. Harris, president; Mrs. Joseph Ware, first
vice-president; Mrs. Stephen Van Houten, second
vice-president; Mrs. Samuel M. Pritchett, treasurer;
Mrs. William Dewsnap, recording secretary; and Mrs.
Albert L. Zabriskie, corresponding secretary.
Committee chairmen were: Mrs. Josephine Asten,
street and sanitary; Mrs. Albert L. Zabriskie, railroad,;
Mrs. Walter Dewsnap, finance; Mrs. Wallace E.
Carver, library; Mrs. Samuel M. Pritchett, parks and
natural beauty; Mrs. Frank Drummond, children’s
auxiliary; Mrs. William C. Talman, prevention of cru-
elty to children and animals.

In October 1917, the VIA disbanded at their final
meeting held at the Borough Hall (which was then at
the Allendale Fire House). The president of the orga-
nization, Mrs. Stephen T. Van Houten, stated that
since most of the work of the organization had been
taken over by other organizations, the need for the
VIA no longer existed. The one project which was
still to receive support from a special committee
formed before the group dishanded, was the library
committee, composed of Mrs. Wallace Carver, Mrs.
Samuel Pritchett, Miss Mary Parkhurst, and Mrs.
Stephen T. Van Houten.”

About 1908 a boys’ home guard organization,
called the Bergen Guards, was formed in Allendale.

ketball team, and the
Bergen Guards ice hockey team, which played at
Smith’s Pond on Brookside Avenue in 1911. Both
teams were probably made up of boys in Harry L
Hand's Bergen Guard drill group. Ice hockey was
played on B. F. Hutches' pond, Lake San Jacinto,
when in January 1917 The Ramsey Journal reported
on a practice hockey match played “by the light of the
moon.”

The Franklin Club, a social men’s organization,
affiliated with the Episcopal Mission of the Epiphany,
flourished in Allendale in the early years of the 20th
century. The club was organized about 1902 and was
instrumental in raising funds and arranging for the
building that year of the Mission's Parish House. The
club sponsored bowling tournaments, bowling
against other local teams (including one from Saddle
River) on an alley in the basement of the Mission of
the Epiphany’s Parish House. They also sponsored
occasional theater presentations, including one in
1903 called “TheTimethementriedtobeatthem, or
When Greek Meets Greek” The story behind that title
is that ladies of the church had put on a show that
had a long Greek title, and so the men decided to
retaliate with another long-titled show. Members of
the club included Alonzo Charles Barrett, George
Washington Parigot, Harry Irving Hand, William
Dewsnap, Henry Bergh Ivers, Edward Grant
Washburne, Francis Ludlow Haveron, Lucien Blake
Peyton, Percy Southwick Doty, Robert Law Nimmo,
Jr., Edgar Deuell, Jr., and Gustave Nadler.”
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A group of young women

called “The Dorcas Girls” was
associated with Archer Memorial
Methodist Church in the early bor-
ough years. The Dorcas Girls pre-
sented a comedy play on June 15,
1909 at Archer Hall, which raised
the sum of $146.27. Some of those
involved in the production, both
the girls and their leaders, were
Alma Seipel, Kitty Austin, Mary
Hubbard, Sadie Mallinson, Gertrude
Borger, Myrtle Quackenbush,
Anna Van Dien, Ida McGuire,
Josie Ackerson, Mr. John W.
Steele, Lottie Scholz, and Mrs.
McKeeby.

Another slightly later girls’
group connected with Archer
Church was the King's Daughters
Society. On February 16, 1914,
they presented at Archer Hall, a
three-act comedy entitled, “Billy’s
Bungalow.” Their elected officers
for 1914 included Florence
Darrow, Sadie Mallinson, Edna
Ackerman, Ethel Quackenbush,
and Gertrude Borger.

Two slightly different views of the Allendale business section in 1905.
Both views are looking west along West Allendale Avenue. In the top
view, the Allendale Hotel is hidden behind trees at the left; the
Allendale Meat Market and a house are shown at the center (the house
was later moved to Myrtle Avenue); and the Winter building housing
Mrs. Borger’s dry goods store is on the right. The bottom view shows
the Allendale Hotel and its barns and other outbuildings; the street to
the left is Park Avenue and in the distance, beyond the railroad tracks,
is Gasparini’s shoe store.

The Borough Dramatic
Company (also called the Borough
Dramatic Club) was organized in
March 1915 at a meeting at the Fire
House. The following officers were
elected: Arthur Tomalin, president;
Ambrose K. Merrill, treasurer; and
Mrs. Ambrose K. Merrill, secretary.
Appointed to the Dramatic
Committee were Miss Mary S.
Parkhurst, Joseph L. Stoothoff,
Arthur Bull Sullivan, and A. K
Merrill. Members of the group
included Mrs. Arthur B. Sullivan,
Ruth Taylor, George W. Parigot,
Mildred H. Hunt, Mr. and Mrs. C. B.
Hutchinson, Marshall J. Couch,

Edna Haring, Dorothy Carver,

Percy Fisher, Matilda Van Houten,
Anita Van Houten, Mr. and Mrs. William Dewsnap,
Florence Darrow, Agnes McDermott, Mrs. R. D.
Rodman, and Mrs. Charles F. Smith. Their first pro-
duction was a vaudeville show in May at the Fire
House. Over the years the group put on a number of
plays, including “A Pair of Sixes” (1924) and “Officer
666" (1929). By 1917 the group had changed its name
to The Allendale Players.

Other Allendale people involved in The Allendale

Players later included Whiting Anthony, Edward
Megnin, Mrs. F. L. Potts, Genevieve Talman, Arthur
Tomalin, Winifred Tomalin, Mrs. Herbert J. Winter,
Elsie Mainey, Louis Jones, Mrs. H. E. Watson, Martha
Parkhurst, Ross Peardon, Mrs. Peardon, George
Comins, Edward N. Higgins, Mr. and Mrs. William
Anderson, Mary Higgins, Mr. and Mrs. Russell Sweet,
Edith Grofsick, Helen Korndorfer, William Hanson,
Mrs. Evelyn Simpson, Carroll Varey, James
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The trolley al
Allendale, proba- o T 7
bly about 1911- ' o
1915. The view is
looking east from
about the site of
today’s Flatiron
Building (Braun
Building). The
building behind
the trolley is Link-
roum’s store and
hall, housing the
confectionery
business run in
1910 by George
Mensching, Jr.
and in 1914 by

FEugene Melchionna. The sign in front of the trolley says, “Look Out For the Locomotive.” The “tent” sign on the
sidewalk in front of the store advertises ice cream, and the horse-drawn delivery truck is an ice wagon.

Hutchinson, Mrs. Clinton Rossner, Mrs. William
Abbott, William Lee, and Mr. H. E. Sylvester
Beuchner. The group was active into at least the
1930s.”"

The Christmas Tree Association was begun in
1916. This group obtained, erected, and decorated a
Christmas tree and planned dedication ceremonies
annually. The tree was installed in Station Square. In
1917, William C. Lee led the Allendale Community
Chorus, comprised of all residents who wished to
participate, in the singing of Christmas carols. The
choirs of the Episcopal and Methodist churches sup-
plemented the Community Chorus, members of
which rehearsed for several weeks preceding the
dedication ceremonies. The tree was topped with a
large star, with hundreds of red, white, and blue elec-
tric lights beneath it.

Members of the Christmas Tree Association in
1917 included R. L. Oberholser, C. Johnson, Ambrose
K. Merrill, Albert L. Zabriskie, J. H. Robertson, B. F.
Hutches, Jr.,, Mayor Gustave Nadler, Fire Chief Val
Braun, Stanley Fisher, Charles Hamilton, Wallace E.
Carver, Mary S. Parkhurst, W. Critchley, George M.
Potter, Arthur Bull Sullivan, and Louis Jones."™

Boy Scouting in Allendale began in 1917, when the
Rev. Charles Woodruff of Archer Memorial Church,
assisted by Willard Alling, Arthur Tomalin, Harry
Hartt, Alfred E. Atkinson, and Robert A. Phair,
formed Allendale’s first Boy Scout troop, known as
Troop One. Before this troop was formed, some of
Allendale’s boys, including William Hutches and
Burtis Griffiths, belonged to Ramsey’s Troop One.

Charter members of Allendale’s Troop One, in
1917, were Leon Kornhoff, Ray Scholz, William

Buhlman, Floyd Vanderbeek, and Otto Vanderbeek.
One of their first service projects, during World War
I, was the collection of papers for the benefit of the
North Jersey Ambulance Fund. During the war, the
scouts also sold war bonds and collected old news-
papers.

In February 1917, nineteen Allendale boy scouts
went on an all-day hike to Torne Mountain near
Suffern. Led by Scoutmaster Robert Phair aided by C.
L. Weyand, the boys who participated, according to
The Ramsey Journal of March 1, 1917, were Patrol
Leader William Buhlman, Assistant Patrol Leader
Otto Vanderbeek, George Rudolph, Howard Rudolph,
Arthur Quackenbush, Walter Hillman, Norman
Merrill, King Merrill, Edwin Merrill, Edward Austin,
Leon Kornhoff, Floyd Vanderbeek, Wilbur
Vanderbeek, Allen Smith, Preston Asten, Charles
Webb, and Andrew Mowerson.”

The Allendale Board of Trade was formed in
March 1914. Its members included Max P Arlt,
Alonzo C. Barrett, William G. Z. Critchley, William S.
Cunningham, Stanley P. Fisher, William F. Kornhoff,
George M. Potter, Mr. Robertson, Arthur Bull
Sullivan, William C. Talman, Arthur Tomalin, and A. L.
Zabriskie. The Board of Trade, among other early
projects, arranged for “clean up weeks” in Allendale
(with collection of rubbish, tin cans, and other
garbage), erected street signs on Franklin Turnpike,
and agitated for better roads and sidewalks. The
group put on entertainments of various types, and
proposed and promoted the Allendale Coming-of-Age
celebration (Allendale’s 21st birthday) in 1915.

The Girl's Friendly Society often met at the West
Crescent Avenue home of their leader, Mrs. George
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M. Potter. Grace Slingland Wahlers remembered that
she learned to knit while in this group.M

ENTERTAINMENT

Archer Hall was a favorite gathering spot for
many special entertainments in the borough’s early
years. Among the variety of featured attractions dur-
ing the first decade of the century was the show put
on by the Crest Minstrel Company. In April 1908, the
Crest Company gave their third annual minstrel per-
formance at Archer Hall. Advertising of the time
promised that the program would be “replete with
new songs and sayings.”

Nearly two years later, in April 1910, tickets that
sold for 25¢ and 35¢ would get you through the doors
of Archer Hall to marvel at “Mrs. Jarley's Wax Works,"”
with Lillian G. Borger in the lead role.

Movies were shown by the Allendale Fire
Department on the second floor in the Fire House.
William Abbott remembered that Lottie Scholz used
to play the piano there as the silent movies were
shown.” The department formed the Allendale
Firemen's Entertainment Association in 1914. This
association sponsored movies and other entertain-
ment at the Fire House until it disbanded in 1929. On
April 9, 1915, The Ramsey Journal reported that “The
Overland Entertainment Club, musicians, soloists,

elocutionists will give an evening entertainment,
including 6 reels of moving pictures, featuring Chas.
Chaplin and other stars. Fireman's Hall, April 15.
Admission 25¢, children 15¢.”

A group of movie actors actually passed through
Allendale in September 1916, and The Ramsey
Journal of September 14 reported on the event:
“Fifty-two actors of the Vitagraph Motion Picture
Company came to town on Saturday morning and
caused much excitement in our usually quiet bor-
ough. The company went to Wyckoff by auto bus,
where a five-reel picture was taken. The director who
accompanied the actors said that they intended to
return again during the middle of the fall.”

NORTH JERSEY RAPID TRANSIT — THE
TROLLEY LINE

In September 1908, a certificate of incorporation
was filed for the North Jersey Rapid Transit Company
and the first surveys through the area for the trolley
line that would run through Allendale were made that
same year. In October 1910, the trolley company was
running cars from the Waldwick station to Paterson
on a thirty minute headway, with the running time to
Broadway in Paterson being about twenty minutes
and the fare 15¢.

The company reported that it expected cars to be
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The North Jersey Rapid Transit trolley, about 1911. This is probably a special two-car Sunday School excursion.
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running to Mahwah before the holidays.

By 1911, the trolley was running through
Allendale north to Suffern and south to Paterson,
connecting to New York. The switch for the inter-
change with the Erie Railroad was built at Allendale.
The trolley station at Allendale was a three-sided
wooden shed with a bench.

Originally an interchange with the Hudson River
Line trolleys was planned, but the link between

RoADS, BUGGIES & AUTOMOBILES

One of the new Allendale Borough Council’s first
major concerns in 1895 was the condition, improve-
ment, and maintenance of the town roads, most of
which were still dirt roads at the time of Allendale’s
incorporation. Local men, hired to work on the
streets, were paid $1.50 a day, and were expected to
use their own horses and carts. Much of their work

was removing stones

from the roads. Some

A view looking west on Allendale Avenue. In the distance on the left, the Allendale
Hotel (partially hidden by trees) and barns. On the north side of the avenue, the
Winter building housing Mrs. Borger's stove, the Stephen Van Blarcom house (moved
later to Elm Street), the Borger home (now gone and replaced by an office building),
and the Rapelje house (still standing). From a postcard mailed in 1905.

of the local men
whose bids to do road
repair were accepted
by the Mayor and
Council before 1900
were Frank Beckley,
Frank S. Merrill, and J.
J. Vanderbeek.

From time to time
in the early years of
the borough, the coun-
cil received bids for
road repair work and
they authorized pay-
ment for road repairs,
sometimes done by
the owners of the
nearby property. On
February 8, 1896, for
instance, the Council
voted to spend not
more than $25 to
repair roads at the

Paterson and Hoboken was never built, so the trolley
remained an interurban line. Maytie Sparling remem-
bered the trolley connecting with a Hudson River
trolley at Warren Point, Elmwood. She said cars ran
every fifteen minutes, then later half hourly, and still
later, once an hour. “In its later years,” she recalled,
“it ran right into Paterson. During World War I there
were lady conductors. Often motormen would stop a
car in the woods between Allendale and Ramsey to
photograph deer and let the passengers view them.”™

The trolley company suffered financial setbacks
resulting from a few early accidents, and when bus
routes began to be established through the areas
served by the trolley, the competition proved too
great.

The Public Service Company took over the trolley
line in 1926 and service on the line was discontinued
on January 1, 1929. The track was later taken up and
was shipped to the U.S.S.R. to be used for the Trans-
Siberian Railway.”

bridge near Mr
Burtis’s house. Later, in February, they authorized J.
J. Vanderbeek to repair the road in front of his house
and ordered the $1.25 bill of F. S. Merrill for road
work to be paid. The Committee of Public Works was
authorized to repair a washout on School House Hill.

In the warmer months, Allendale’s early dirt roads
were sometimes treated to keep the dust down,
sometimes by oiling the surface. Roads in the winter
at this time were generally not plowed, but were
rolled, or packed down when it snowed, and sleighs
then became the vehicle that could negotiate winter
thoroughfares with the least trouble.

In wintertime, as buggies and automobiles gave
way to sleighs, they, too, suffered their share of
mishaps. One double incident happened about 1902-03,
when P. Belinsky hitched his flyer to Frank Storms’
cutter and accompanied by their two wives, they set
out on a sleigh ride. A snowbank and an unseen rock
spilled the occupants and wrecked the cutter. They
hitched up a new sleigh, and continued on. The horse
began to speed, and while going over a bump in the
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road, Mrs. Storms was thrown

from the sleigh. Mrs. Belinsky tried
to make the men understand that a
passenger was overboard, but the
men, with muffled ears and sleigh
bells ringing, were only intent on
making quick time. When, finally,
Mrs. Belinsky impressed upon
them that Mrs. Storms was lost,
the team was turned and the aban-
doned passenger was rescued.™
Another incident happened In
January 1904 when several women
were walking along Franklin
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approached and suddenly the
horse started to run. The driver of
the sleigh was thrown out, and one
of the women, with her child, was
knocked down. The cutter went

over them, but fortunately neither
was badly hurt, and the horse was caught a bit further
down the road.”

In August 1908, a party of young people out for a
moonlight ride was driven to Suffern in the “Zabriskie
wagonette” by Charles Simon. The young folks
included Grace Archer, Amy Zabriskie, Laura
Dougherty, Emilie Burroughs, Mason Garber, Ward
Townley, Bert Weaver, Arthur Braig, and Sam
Pritchett. Near the Suffern station, the horses
became frightened and dashed down the road.
Several of the passengers jumped, but most stayed in
the carriage, which was thrown against iron supports
at the bridge in Mahwah, where the harness broke
and the carriage stopped. The horses ran on and were
finally caught below Ramsey. The passengers were
badly frightened, but fortunately suffered only bruis-
es and scratches. Another wagon was hired at
Suffern and the young people arrived home in
Allendale at nearly three in the moming.68

At the turn of the century, the trip from New York
City to Allendale by horse and buggy took about four
hours. Traffic on the roads through town was gener-
ally slight in the early years of the 20th century. Even
so, every once and a while, an accident would occur
or a runaway horse would create a scare or worse,
and people would renew their demands for greater
safety measures on the roads.

Automobiles were rare at the turn of the century.
In January 1900, Dr. Vroom owned the only automo-
bile in Ridgewood. A newspaper in 1901 warned that
Allendale “authorities should pass at once an ordi-
nance regulating the speed of horseless carriages
passing through the borough. The school house hill
and the stretch of road near the M.E. Church on the
main road, seems to be the favorite speeding place.

Many of the vehicles rush along at a rate and with the
noise that would put to shame an Erie express train.
A lady and gentleman, whose name could not be
ascertained at this writing, but who it is said came
from Mahwah, were driving on Sunday near Dr.
Badeau'’s when a locomobile came rushing along. The
occupants must have noticed that the horse was
frightened, but they never stopped or slackened up,
but rushed on, causing the gentleman to lose control
of his horse, which went into Dr. Badeau'’s gate,
breaking down a part of the fence, damaging the car-
riage, and throwing the occupants out. That they
were not seriously hurt was a matter of good fortune.
The party in the locomobile never looked back but
kept right on. Fortunately there are very few of this
class on the roads, as usually when they see that a
horse is frightened they slow down or stop.” =

Laura Barrett Haviland wrote “In April 1902 my
father, A. C. Barrett, was driving with his horse and
sulky, on the Franklin Turnpike when a passing auto-
mobile frightened his horse. . . My father [wrote] a let-
ter of protest to the owner of the automobile.” H. O.
Havermeyer, Jr. denied responsibility in a letter dated
May 2, 1902, which is interesting for its estimate of
the automobile traffic at that time: “although I possi-
bly passed on the Franklin Turnpike on my way to
New York last Sunday, I did not encounter any car-
riage between Ramsey and Ridgewood, and at no
time did I pass a carriage without stopping. Evidently
you have been misinformed, and if you and your
informer would stop and think that I am not the only
automobilist who uses this road and that there are
passing on the road weekly between Tuxedo and
New York something like 50 automobiles, you would
see the necessity of being absolutely positive before




76 EARLY YEARS OF THE BorRoUGH — 1895-1916

The Allendale Railroad Station, about 1898, when il
still stood on the east side of the railroad tracks.

n 70

making such an assertion.

Horse-drawn and automotive vehicles shared the
scene for the first two decades of the new century.
There were hitching posts and water troughs for
horses at the edges of Allendale Avenue in the busi-
ness section and in the vicinity of the train station
well into the second decade of the 1900s.

There were few automobiles in the area in the
very early 1900s and Allendale’s first encounters with
horseless carriages were special events. In June 1902
Dr. and Mrs. Harry M. Archer provided quite an excit-
ing spectacle when they drove their new automobile
to Allendale, having made “the run up from the city in
a very short time.” George Cook, Allendale’s second
Mayor, had an automobile by 1904, perhaps the
Stevens Duryea that he and his sons built themselves
at his home on West Allendale Avenue.’ Will
Ackerman had a Ford by the summer of 1908, and in
that same year Cy Gousset bought fwo new Franklins
— a touring car and a runabout! Willard Alling had a
new Franklin in 1910.

In June 1912 Dr. R. W. Rodman was teaching his
wife to drive their new auto and she took the car out
onto Franklin Turnpike. A newspaper of the time
reported that “Mrs. Rodman started the machine all
right, but could not keep it straight. The car zigzagged
down the road until a telegraph pole got in its way
and stopped it. The car was not damaged much.”

By the early teens, more and more people owned
automobiles, and traffic began to be a problem. By
1916, automobile and motorcycle accidents were
occurring frequently in Allendale, most on Franklin
Turnpike, but some also on Crescent Avenue and
Hillside Avenue.

By about 1901 or 1902, a 2,400 foot length of

Franklin Turnpike had been recently macadamized,
and this stretch of roadway completed the paving of
that road through Allendale.”

About July 1903 plans were being made by the
Mayor and Council to macadamize parts of Park
Avenue and Brookside Avenue. The roads to be
paved were those from Gasparini's store to Pullis’s
corner, and then west along Brookside Avenue to
Wyckoff. At the same time it was noted that work
was expected to begin soon on a new steel beam
arched bridge with concrete flooring to be built over
the creek near the ballgrounds (probably on
Brookside Avenue near Memorial I’zu"k).'3

About 1910-1911 the borough issued bonds in the
amount of $25,000 to improve the streets. It was
about this time or a few years later that Franklin
Turnpike was graded near the Toll Gate House. The
cobblestone bridge over the Allendale Brook near the
Elm Street and Franklin Turnpike intersection was
built in 1915,

Crescent Avenue in Allendale was graded in 1914
and 1915, as part of “the new road from the State line
to the Paterson Market.” ™

Macadamized roads were appreciated by
motorists, but these same roads, according to The
Ramsey Journal of December 16, 1915, “impress
owners and drivers of horses in quite a different way,
as in damp or icy weather it is well-nigh impossible
for a horse to travel. A little roughened stretch at one
side of the roadway, as in some stretches is noted, is
of great aid to animals, and should left on all our sur-
rounding thoroughfares.” "

In the summer of 1916, the Allendale Board of
Trade put up new signs on Franklin Turnpike at its
Waldwick and Ramsey borders. The signs read
“Welcome to Allendale. A Good Place To Live” and
“Goodbye to Allendale. A Good Place To Live.”"

Many of the names by which we know Allendale’s
roads today came into use during this period. Hillside
Avenue was still called “the back Ramsey Road” in
1903, but was known as Hillside Avenue by 1910. The
name “Brookside Avenue” (the eastern part of which
was formerly called Anthony Street, and the western
part of which was known by locals as “the road to
Wyckoff”) was not in general use until the early
1900s. New Street was known by that name by 1916.
Myrtle Avenue was named for Myrtle Quackenbush
Dator, whose family lived on that street.

POSTAL SERVICE

Allendale had several postmasters in the bor-
ough’s beginning years, and the post office moved
from place to place. It was usually kept in the busi-
ness location of the postmaster. Stephen J. Van
Blarcom was appointed postmaster in 1893 and
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Albert F. Krause followed him in 1897. Michael M.
McDermott was postmaster in 1902 (and the post
office was in the railroad station), and John Winter
took office in 1914 (and the post office was in his
store)."’

On September 30, 1913 the Post Office was moved
from the Erie Station to a new addition in the Winter
Store on West Allendale Avenue, where John Winter
was Postmaster. Less than a year later, on April 20,
1914, the Winter Store and the Post Office were
robbed and $756 in money and stamps was taken.’

On July 1, 1903 Rural Free Delivery was started
from the Allendale Post Office. William J. Wilson and
James Morton Southwick were sworn in as U.S. Mail
carriers, Wilson as the regular carrier, and Southwick
as the substitute carrier. The route covered all of
Allendale and the carrier’s duties included delivering,
collecting, and registering letters, as well as selling
stamps.

On June 30, 1917, Herbert Winter noted in his
diary that “Abe Ackerman gave up carting mail from
Allendale to Saddle River after 31 years of service.”

THE RAILROAD

The railroad station which today stands opposite
the Fire Station in Allendale, was built in 1870 and
originally stood on the east side of the railroad
tracks. By 1902, the station building had fallen into
some disrepair, and the residents of Allendale urged
the railroad to tear it down and build a new one. The
railroad company responded by moving the old sta-
tion across the tracks to its current location and
refurbishing it a bit. This resulted in a rash of sarcasm
and indignation on the part of the Allendale com-
muters. The Ramsey Journal of October 31, 1902
reported, “If you want to make an Allendale man
mad, ask him how he likes the new station. The mov-
ing of the old station across the tracks took place last
Saturday, at noon, and so well was the thing planned
that not a single train was delayed. Allendale people
cannot understand why the company spent nearly
$1,100 to move an old building so far. The officials
say the building will be thoroughly overhauled and
repainted and will practically be a new building. The
new site is considered by many superior to the old
one. A citizen sat in the old station as it was being
raised on jacks, when a friend came in and said, ‘I see
you are on the way to heaven’ The citizen replied: ‘Let
me out; I don't want to go there in this dilapidated
affair.”

By July 1903 the railroad company had made good
on its promise to overhaul the old building. The
Ramsey Journal reported, “The station has under-
gone quite a change in the past few weeks. The office
is now at one end and connects with a door leading
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The Allendale Railroad Station in 1905, after it had
been moved to the west side of the railroad tracks. The
view is looking north from aboul the site of
Ackerman’s store on Park Avenue.

to the baggage room without having to go outside.
Both waiting rooms have been thrown into one large
room and extra seats put in. The station is to be light-
ed by electricity and a freight house is to be built on
the old station site.””

During the early 1900s the railroad station at
Allendale was frequently burglarized, usually to steal
money from the machines that had been installed to
dispense gum and candy.

Work on laying an additional two tracks had been
in progress during 1902. By October 1902, laying of
additional tracks between Waldwick and Allendale
was nearly complete. In December 1903 the four
tracks between Allendale and Ridgewood were put
into operation (over what had previously been a two-
track stretch), resulting in an unbroken four-track
line between Suffern and Jersey City.m’ L

The roadbeds of Allendale Avenue and Park
Avenue crossed the railroad tracks in Allendale at
this time, and flagmen were employed to raise and
lower gates, at first by using hand cranks, and later
automatically. Maytie Sparling remembered Charlie
Simon and Willis Christopher as two of the flagmen.
Allendale Avenue, Park Avenue, Orchard Street,
Crescent Avenue, and Chestnut Street all directly
crossed the tracks at this time.

One of the Allendale Borough Council’s earliest
ordinances, passed in March 1895, was to ask the
Erie Railroad to build gates at one of the most dan-
gerous crossings — the Allendale Avenue crossing.

Even with gates, flagmen, bells, wig-wags, and
alarms at crossings, train accidents still occurred. In
January 1898 the driver for Richard Warren & Co.,
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The Allendale Railroad Station, about 1910 in a photograph taken by

Shearman, Charles F. Smith, Charles
W. Stocker, Joseph B. Taylor, Arthur
Tomalin, James E. Van Horn, William
J. Wilson, and the Rev. C. S. Woodruff.

Nearly two years after Allendale’s
incorporation, ground was broken for
a new school building to replace the
old one. On April 24, 1896, The
Ramsey Journal reported, “Plans for
the new school building will be decid-
ed on this week. Size of the building
will be about 50 by 60 feet, two stories
high, two rooms on each floor, about
24 by 30 feet each. There are to be sep-
arate entrances and cloak rooms for
the boys and girls.”

The new school was built by
Stephen Van Blarcom at a cost of
$5,500, and was built on the same lot
on Franklin Turnpike that the 1862
school building occupied. The old

Paterson dealers of soda water, was crossing the
track at the Allendale depot when he was struck by
the “Tuxedo flyer.” His wagon was completely demol-
ished and pieces of it and its contents were scattered
along the tracks. The crash set the horses loose, and
they plunged forward, pulling the driver out of the
wagon. He landed on his face and a gash was opened
over his eye, he was bruised internally, and he was
unconscious when he was taken to the hospital.

In August 1915, A. L. LeBarron and his father were
driving through the Chestnut Street crossing when
their wagon was hit by an Erie express. The horse
was killed and the wagon was demolished. Mr.
LeBarron and his father both sustained broken legs
and body wounds, and were taken to St. Joseph's
Hospital in Paterson.”

By March 1917 improvements were being made in
the Allendale train station building, including the
installation of toilets.”

ALLENDALE SCHOOLS

Allendale Public School

Soon after the incorporation of the borough, a
new Board of Education was elected, including as
members William C. Talman, C. A. Quackenbush,
John B. Willard, Stephen Van Blarcom, D. P. Davis,
Robert L. Nimmo, Henry J. Appert, D. C. Cooper, and
Stephen Van Houten. Later members of the Allendale
Board of Education between 1895 and 1916 included
Henry C. Anthony, J. P. Beaver, Joseph Waldo
Griffiths, William F. Kornhoff, John Mowerson, Albert
Pullis, James H. Robertson, Abram T. Ryerson, Harry

building remained while the new one
was built just northeast of it. After the new building
was completed, the old building was removed by
Henry J. Appert, who had purchased the building, to
his farm further north on the Turnpike.

Work on the new building was begun in June 1896
and the school was formally opened at a dedication
ceremony held on December 18, 1896. The building
still stands on its original site today, where, with its
second floor removed, and having been renovated
several times, it serves as today’s Allendale Police
Headquarters. After 1929, when the new Brookside
School opened, the old school building served vari-
ous functions including years as a Borough Hall, as a
Community Center, and as a War Memorial Building
before being turned into a police headquarters.

Teachers at this 1896 school included Alfred
Ackerman, Miss Ella Appert, Miss Backus, Miss
Carey, Miss Freeland (who roomed with Mr. and Mrs.
Wetmore on Allendale Avenue), Miss Johnson (who
left to become Mrs. John Cook), Miss King, Miss
Frances Kussine (Frances Cosine?), Marie C.
Maloney, Miss Naomi Murdock, Miss Rugge, Sadie
Salyer, Miss Sayer, Miss Travis, Anita Van Houten
(later Mrs. Stanley P. Fisher), Mrs. Joseph Ware, and
John B. Zabriskie. Principals of the school, who at
this early date also taught, included John Jacob
Ackerman, John B. Zabriskie, Adele Harris, Mr.
Johnson, and Mr. Brinkerhoff. In 1907, Willard Alling
was appointed Principal of the Allendale School, a
position he held until his death on November 16,
1940.*

Graduation exercises were held first at the
school, later at Archer Hall, and still later at the Fire
House. In June 1900, the largest number to that date
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Franklin Turnpike in 1896. The view is looking
north from East Orchard Street. The second school-
house is on the left in the photograph. The new third
schoolhouse (center) is mearing completion. The
steps on the right belong to the Episcopal Church of

the Epiphany, which had in 1895 been moved south
JSrom its former location on the corner of Franklin
Turnpike and what is today Cotltage Place. At this
time, the entrance to the chwrch building faced
Franklin Turnpike, and the Epiphany Parish House
had not yet been built.

ever graduated at once from the Allendale School
attended commencement exercises. The seven grad-
uates that year were Bertha Mallinson, Edna Storms,
Arthur Appert, Willie Yeomans, Archer Asten, Bertie
Smith, and Fred Willard.

In 1904, three teachers were employed at the
school. In March of that year, the proposal to add a
fourth teacher was voted on and lost. In the early
1900s the schoolhouse was composed of four rooms.
The two rooms downstairs accommodated two class-
es, one of grades K-Z, and one of grades 3 and 4.
Upstairs, beginning in 1907, the one large room could
be divided by a sliding, accordian-type door to make
two rooms, one for grades 5 and 6; the other for
grades 7 and 8. Morning exercises for the whole
school were held upstairs in the large room, which
served as an auditorium. In the rear hall (on both
floors) was a bell rope to ring the bell in the tower on
the roof.

William Buhlman, who was born October 5, 1900
and came to Allendale about 1905 or 1906, remem-
bered that there was an old-fashioned indoor “out-
house” downstairs inside the school. Later, he said,
they closed that up and moved the out-houses out-

side, one for the boys and one for the girls. He gradu-
ated from the Allendale School in 1915 and remem-
bered that he walked to school — “if you didn’t walk
you didn’t get anyplace.”

Buhlman remembered the school Principal,
Willard Alling, who used to tell them stories of the
coal mine country in Pennsylvania, where he came
from. “His stock story was that he used to work as a
boy as a breaker boy in a coal mine, which meant that
as the coal came out after being crushed, they had to
pick out the slate and throw it aside. That's when he
was a boy, and years later he was still coughing up
coal dust.” Margaret McNelley remembered that “in
8th grade, when our classmates read orally and came
to a difficult word, Mr. .)Alling would say, ‘Call it
“steamboat” and go on.” "™

Willard Alling had been born on April 27, 1879 in
Wyoming, Pennsylvania. He graduated from Harvard
University and New York University Law School. He
was admitted to the bar in New Jersey and New York
but never practiced law because of illness. He
received his training as a teacher at Pennsylvania
State Normal School and was a teacher in the
Allendale Schools for 33 years, serving in addition as
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An Allendale School class photograph taken March
1900 in a downstairs classroom. Standing at rear is
the teacher, Sadie Salyer, and standing beside her is
Florence Mallinson. Students in the left row are,
Jrom front to back, Charlie Simon, William Johnson,
FElla Simon, unknown, John Cook (and, right, an
unknown boy), Charlie Johnson (and, right, Ed
Hilbert), and an unknown boy. In the center row,
Sront to back, are: Anita Van Houten (and to her right

Grace Van Houten and FEthel Borger), Sadie

Mallinson (and, right, Marie Nadler), Anna Van
Dien (and, right, an unknown girl), Gertrude Borger
(and, right, Matilda Van Houten), Myra Zabriskie,
an unknown boy (and, right, Morgan Stocker), Hazel
Burtis (and, right, Mabel Quackenbush). In the right
row, front to back, are: Elliot Spring, John Appert,
Everett Burtis, an unknown boy, another unknown
boy, Viola Rossner, and Mina Schneider.

School Principal for most of those years. He came to
Allendale in 1907. He was also Justice of the Peace in
1920 and served as Tax Collector for Allendale for 8
years. He was active in many educational and civic
organizations, including the Holiday Observers, of
which he was president in 105248

Children either went home from school for lunch
or brought lunches in Scotch plaid folding lunchbox-
es which were kept in lockers at the school. There
was a pump outdoors with a ladle for drinking water,
but after parents complained about their children
drinking from a “community” dipper, all students
were required to bring their own collapsible drinking
cups to school. On stormy days when pupils couldn't
go home for lunch, some of them gathered in the bel-
fry to tell ghost stories.

Laura Barrett Haviland remembered the excite-
ment in the area when in 1912 the first airplane flew
over Allendale. All the school pupils were permitted
to go out in the schoolyard to watch it. “It was very
exciting as it flew very low and we were greatly
impressed,” she recalled. She remembered the many
chestnut trees in the woods behind the school, and
her sister Alice Barrett, Ruth Hutchinson, and
Beatrice Nidd playing piano for the march into

assembly each morning.“’ 43

On the way home from school every fall, those
students who walked north on Franklin Turnpike
past Mallinson’s Cider Mill would usually stop for a
sample fresh from the press. The parents were not
very happy about it because everyone, young or old,
drank cider from the same tin cup which hung on a
nail. William Abbott recalled that Joseph Henry
Mallinson (“Joe Hen™), the operator of the cider mill,
kept part of the cider as payment for the pressing of
the apples.™

It was customary then for the graduating eighth-
grade students to climb up into the school belfry and
carve their initials there. In June 1912 while carving
her initials, Alice Barrett’s foot slipped between the
beams. It accidentally broke through the ceiling of
the room below, sending plaster onto the desks of her
sister Mildred’s classmates, who were taking their
state exams under the direction of their teacher, Miss
Carey. The two classes in the room were so disrupted
that a new set of tests had to be sent for and taken
later. The school Principal, Mr. Alling, was so angry
that he expelled the entire graduating class of five
students. Regardless of this, they all showed up every
day and sat on the fence in front of the school, beg-
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ging to come back. Finally Mr. Alling relented and
permitted them to graduate, but refused to have his
picture taken with them. Students at that time, after
graduating from the Allendale elementary school,
would take the trolley to the high school in
Ridgewood.“

In 1911 a new storm door was built for the school-
house and extensive repairs and improvements were
made to both the windows and the heating system. In
1914 an addition to the school was built at a cost of
$24,000. This addition was used as a kindergarten
room. In 1915 indoor sanitary toilets were installed,
school grounds were graded and a stereoscope and
victrola were purchased for the school.

Allendale Private Schools

Miss Jennie Southwick, daughter of James
Reynolds Southwick, ran a private “school” in
Allendale in 1910. According to Maytie Rowland
Southwick Sparling, this began as remedial tutoring
classes, held in the house on New Street, where the
Southwicks had moved, from East Allendale Avenue,
in 1887.

By 1915 Carrie Switzer was running the “Allendale
School of Music” in her home at 100 East Allendale
Avenue. She taught day pupils and advertised “acco-

modations for a limited number of resident pupils.”

ALLENDALE PUBLIC LIBRARY

Allendale’s public library, one of northern Bergen
County’s first, had its beginnings in December 1900
on the second floor of the school building on
Franklin Turnpike. It was organized by the Village
Improvement Association’s library committee, com-
prised of Mrs. E. W. Spring, Mrs. Wallace E. Carver,
Mrs. Steven Van Houten, Mrs. Frank Merrill, and Mrs.
Frank Drummond. On its opening day the library was
stocked with 600 volumes loaned by the State Library
at Trenton on a rotating basis. The State also sent a
trained librarian to Allendale to teach the volunteers
in charge how to catalog, shelve, and supervise cir-
culation of the books.

The library was supported by private funds,
including membership dues and donations.
Nonresidents could also borrow books.

In 1910, the school needed the library space for a
cloak room, and so the library made its first of sever-
al moves, to a store owned by John Ackerman. In
1915 the library was moved to the second floor of the
recently constructed Fire House, which at that time
also doubled as the Borough Hall.®

An Allendale School class photograph taken in a
downstairs classroom, January 22, 1903. The
teacher, standing at the rear of the room, is Sadie
Salyer. Students in the left row, front to back, are:
John Burgin, Ethel Borger, Duell Wall, Sadie
Mallinson, Floyd Strawn, Lowise MacNeil, and an
unidentified boy. In the center row, front to back:
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Sfront to back: Mary McDermott, Rose Gasparini,

Harry Strawn, Edna Ackerman, Harry Yeomans,
Lottie Scholz, Leo Van Dien, Anna Ackerson, Bill
Mowerson, and Loretta McDermotl. In the right row,

Josie Ackerson, Grace Abbott, an unidentified boy,
Clinton Rossner, and another unidentified boy.
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Above, Allendale School class photograph taken about
1909 of probably the third and fourth grades. The
teacher, standing at the rear center, is Ella Appert. The
students are, front row, left to right: Edgar Austin,
possibly -?- Griffin, John Knack, John Wilson, Clifford
Fox, George Rudolph, John Winters?, Raymond Scholz,
unknown boy, Jack Selfridge, Fred Conklin, and
Kenneth V. Fisher. Second row: Mae Selfridge, Lois
Merrill, Vivian Perry, Ina Van Horn, -?- Leach,

Mildred Barrett, unknown girl, Adelaide Couch, -2-
Swan, Betty Anthony, Georgianna Van Houten, Grace
Hubbard, Marjorie Hutchinson, and Edna Bloomer.
Third row: Walter Swan, Leon Kornhoff, Arthur
Quackenbush, Perry Sturges, William B. Buhlman
(“Bub”), Kingsland Merrill, Olin Leach, John
Winters?, Andrew Mowerson, Dorothy Hutchinson,
and Otto Vanderbeek. Rear , top row: Gertrude Dexter,
Miss Appert, -?- Swan, and Marjorie Dexter.
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Above, Allendale School class photograph, 1914, 7th
and Sth grades. The teacher (and school principal),
Willard Alling, is standing to the left of the staivs. In
the bottom row, left to right, are: Clifford Fox, Leon

Kornhoff, Raymond Scholz, John Winters, Edgar

Austin, and Kenneth V. Fisher. In the second row:
Georgianna Van Houten, Edna Bloomer, Marjorie

Hutchinson,
Horn, Florence Dunkel, Grace Hubbard, and Sara

Anderson. Third row: Marjorie Dexter, Dorothy
Hutchinson, Marion Robertson, Ruth Taylor, Mildred
Barrett. Rear (top) row: John Knack, Andrew
Mowerson, Otto Vanderbeek, Arthur Quackenbush,
William Buhlman, and George Rudolph.
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Above, Allendale School class photograph taken March
1915 of the 2nd and 3rd grades. The teacher, standing
at the the left of the stairs, is Miss Anita Van Houten.
The students are, front row, left to right: an unidenti-
Jfied boy, James Travis, Harry Wiley, Edward Brown,
William Barrett, and Evrick Anderson. Second row:
Jennie Winters, Hilda Vanderbeek, Gertrude Avlt,
Margaret M. McNelley, Jean Rouse, unidentified girl,
Mary Monarch, Madeline Miller, Grace Shambach,

Virginia Russell, Pearl Rose, and Jennie Gasparini.
Third row: wunidentified girl, Edna May Murphy,
Florence Hanson, unidentified girl, and another
unidentified girl. Fourth row: Whyett Van Horn,
George Gasparini, Paul Tomalin, Charles Bijou, Perry
Dexter, and Lodowick Rossner. Top row: James Webb,
John Taylor, Gerard Schilling, Kenneth Mowerson,
Elwood Critchley, William Hanson, and Robert
Rodman.

Left, Allendale School
gradualing class of
1910 standing oultside
the schoolhouse. Left
to right, standing,
are: Art Kaminski,
Percy Fisher, Bert
Sneden, Teacher and
Principal Willard
Alling, Rita Stocker,
Lillian Bloomer,
Russell Mallinson, .J.
Parnell Feeney, Jack
MeDermolt, and
Herbert Winter.
Seated are James
Hubbard, Oliver
Asten, John Borger,
and William Abbott.
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FIRES AND THE
ALLENDALE FIRE ASSOCIATION

Over the years Allendale had suffered many dis-
astrous fires. Some, occurring after the borough was
organized, included the September 1896 blaze that
burned a house on the Turnpike belonging to
Benjamin Ackerman to the ground. The tenants, Mr.
and Mrs. Parks, were away at the time, but neighbors
managed to break down a front door and save some
furniture, including a piano.

In December 1896 the home of Henry J. Appert
was totally destroyed by fire, and the family escaped
with only the clothing they were wearing.

In October 1898 a barn owned by Corines
Quackenbush was competly destroyed by fire, includ-
ing its contents — the complete summer crop of hay.

On August 2, 1903, a fire broke out in Ackerman’s
General Store and among the things damaged was the
borough safe, which had been stored in the building.
This fire had interesting consequences, according to
The Ramsey Journal: the marriage of R. V.
Ackerman’s daughter, Myra, to Chartre Mallinson.
“The young people had been engaged for some time,”
reported the newspaper, “No date had been set for
the wedding, but the circumstances of the fire, and
Miss Ackerman’s peril brought the young people to
realize they should be married at once.”

Another fire occurred in Allendale in August 1903,
when the W. Jaeger home on Hillside Avenue was
totally destroyed. According to The Hackensack
Republican, “Nearby a ball game was in progress
when some of the small boys present noticed smoke

off to the west. Attention was called to it, but it was
thought to be from a brush fire. Some of the boys
who had gone to investigate raised the alarm, and
immediately a large number of citizens were hurrying
to the scene and assisted in saving some of the per-
sonal property, but by the time the first delegation
arrived the fire had nearly full possession of the
building. Those who did good work were George
Parigot, “Fritz” O'Neill, Dr. Archer, who had his coat
burned, and Mr. Dewsnap. John Mallinson and David
Mowerson with pails of water wet down the roofs of
surrounding property in the direction the sparks
were flying.”

Still another 1903 fire destroyed property at
Henry J. Appert’s farm on Cottage Place. One of the
buildings destroyed was a storehouse full of onions,
and neighbors said that for weeks afterwards the
vicinity smelled of charred onions.

These fires and others had spurred talk of the
need for a local fire-fighting organization, and that
suggestion was renewed after the Jaeger fire. “The
fire emphasizes again,” wrote the Hackensack
Republican reporter, “the suggestion of this column
last week that a fire company should be organized.
Property owners have to face higher insurance if this
keeps up, and by a well organized fire company lower
rates can be secured. Dr. Archer has been connected
with the New York fire department for many years,
and would make a capable instructor, and there is plen-
ty of material here to make an excellent department.”

Despite this suggestion, it would be another seven
years before a fire company would be organized in
Allendale. It happened when the usual Sunday morn-
ing quiet was broken on
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In a photo from about 191

the truck was housed wntil 1913.

0, Allendale Fire Association Assistant Foreman
Valentine J. Braun with Allendale’s fivst fire truck, outside Braun's barn, where

the day after Christmas,
December 26, 1909, by
the sounds of many
voices calling the alarm
of “Fire!” The building
formerly housing the
Kornhoff Bakery, near
the center of the
Allendale business sec-
tion, was aflame in a fire
started by an upset
Christmas tree. Despite
the efforts of many vol-
unteers, the tenant fami-
ly occupying the house
lost all of their belong-
ings to the fire. The
building housing the
barber shop of Max
Scholz, located about 25
feet away from the

v
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Kornhoff building, soon caught fire and was also
destroyed. A strong wind was blowing that morning
and there was a great deal of concern that the fire
would spread to other nearby buildings, for sparks
were being blown as far as the livery stable and the
nearby Winter building. Seven or eight smaller fires,
including one on the roof of Mr. Walton's building,
were extinguished before they did substantial dam-
age, but the fear remained that if the Winter store
caught fire, almost every building on the Avenue
would be endangered. Volunteers mounted ladders
and poured snow and water on the roof of the Winter
building to prevent the spread of the fire.

Ramsey firemen were summoned to the scene by
telephone and Winter & Christopher sent a team of
horses, driven by Richard Christopher and Arthur
Appert, to help bring the apparatus. By the time the
flames were completely out, all that remained of the
two buildings was the tall chimney of the bakery.Sa

For Allendale, this disastrous fire was to have
long-lasting consequences, for the tragedy of this
conflagration and the fear of what might have been,
inspired the quick formation of the Allendale Fire
Company. On New Year’s Eve, December 31, 1909, a
general meeting was held in Archer Hall, and a com-
mittee of seven was appointed to investigate the
organization of a permanent fire department. This
first meeting was attended by 54 men (a number later
estimated to be almost a third of Allendale’s adult
male population in 1909). Five meetings were held
within the next 20 days, during which a constitution
and by-laws were prepared and plans for a full work-
ing organization were established.

On January 24, 1910, a unanimous vote approved
the constitution, it was adopted, and the volunteer

Allendale Fire Association was formally in existence.
Charter membership totalled 57 men. The charter
officers elected were: president, William Dewsnap;
vice-president, William C. Talman; treasurer, J. M.
Christopher; secretary, C. N. Elliott, Jr.; chief, Robert
W. Steele; foreman, Valentine J. Braun; assistant fore-
man, Max Scholz; second assistant foreman, Arthur
Dathe. Serving on the Board of Trustees were John W.
Winter, Dr. Robert W. Rodman, R. Moelhausen, S. J.
Van Blarcom, and William C. Lee.

In February iron tires, to be used as alarms, were
purchased from the Erie Railroad and R. J. and J. M.
Christopher donated lumber to be used to build
frames from which to hang the iron tires. There were
eleven of these iron tire alarms and they were locat-
ed throughout Allendale at the following sites:

(1) Park and Brookside Avenues (strike 1-5)

(2) Franklin Turnpike near the llsley residence
(strike 3-5)

(3) at the railroad crossing near the hotel (strike 14)

(4) at Allendale Avenue and Franklin Turnpike
(strike 1-6)

(5) at the intersection of Myrtle and West
Crescent Avenues (strike 1-7)

(6) at Hillside and West Crescent Avenues (strike 2-4)

(7) on Hillside Avenue near the Gousset residence
(strike 2-5)

(8) on Brookside Avenue near the Smith resi-
dence (strike 2-6)

(9) at Park and Crescent Avenues near the Lee
residence (strike 2-7)

(10) on Franklin Turnpike near the old Tollgate
House (strike 3-4)

(11) on East Allendale Avenue near the Zabriskie
residence (strike 3-6).

An Evrie steam rail-
road train arriving
at Allendale in
1910. To the left of
the tracks hangs an
early Allendale Fire
Association fire
gong: a railroad

| iron tire suspended
Srom a wooden
Jrame. This view is
| looking south along
the railroad tracks;
the grounds of the
Allendale Hotel (and
the bottom of its
Slag pole) are visible
on the left of the
photograph.
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The Allendale Fire House under construction in 1913.

In the event of a fire, these iron tires were struck
with a hammer a varying number of times according
to a number code that indicated the alarm location.
In addition to the strike codes listed above, 2 strikes
indicated Back Taps, Fire Out; 3 strikes indicated a
Test Alarm; and 4 strikes indicated a Drill Call.® Later
bells were used for alarms, and finally sirens were
installed throughout the borough.

In March 1910 a new hook and ladder truck was
ordered at a cost of $995, from the Combination
Ladder Co. On March 15, 1910 a terrible fire
destroyed the home of Albert L. Zabriskie on East
Allendale Avenue, where an estimated $25,000 in

damage was done. This was the first fire to confront
the newly formed association and it occurred before
their new equipment was delivered. The truck arrived
on August 18 and was stored in Valentine J. Braun's
barn next to the Allendale Hotel. The truck, drawn by
a team of horses loaned by H. J. Knack, appeared in
Allendale’s Labor Day parade on September 8, 1910.

Allendale firemen marched in the 4th of July and
Labor Day parades in 1910, dressed in dapper uni-
forms of white duck trousers, white shirts, black
belts, shoes and ties. They wore white cotton gloves
and each man carried a cane with a flag attached.
These striking uniforms earned Allendale firemen the
nickname, “the silk-stocking boys.”

In 1912 Valentine Braun became the Allendale fire
chief, and that same year he sold the land on which
the barn housing the fire truck was located. A build-
ing committee was formed and its members began to
formulate plans for a permanent Fire House. In June
of that year, Mrs. Margaret Yeomans donated a 25' x
50' plot of land on which to build a Fire House, and in
October 1912 John Yeomans increased the size of the
lot to 50' x 100",

Allendale architect William Dewsnap drew up
plans, which he donated without charge, for a combi-
nation Fire House/Borough Hall building, and work
began on construction early in 1913. A contract was
awarded to S. T. Van Houten, Jr. to erect the building
for a sum of $6,212. A well was dug by Mr. LeBarron
and plumbing was installed by L. E. Rossner. On April
5, 1913 the cornerstone of the new Fire House was
laid during ceremonies at which a brass band played.
Mayor John Winter officiated, assited by John
Yeomans, Margaret Yeomans, and Dr. Harry Archer.

Over the next few years the

building became more than just a

Fire House — it was a communi-
ty center where all sorts of civic
and social community events
were held. The building served as
a polling place on election day,
drill hall for the Bergen Guards,
the office of the Building and
Loan Association, and the meeting
place for the Allendale Council.

In the early days of the vol-
unteer association, the firemen
pulled the first truck to fires,
using ropes, but soon merchants
in town volunteered to lend their
teams of horses to haul the truck.
Teams loaned included those of
John W. Winter, Henry J. Knack,
R. J. Christopher, John J. Brennan,

The completed Allendale Fire House in 1913.

John H. Ackerman, and Coates &
Strunk. In 1912 the association
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W Lo,
cornerstone
ceremony for
Allendale’s first
Fire House,
April 5, 1913.

Below, the Allendale Firemen, in a photo taken Apyil 5, 1913 at the cornerstone ceremony for the new Fire
House. Some of the men in the photo are, from left to right, front row: Ernest Steele, William Dewsnap, Dr.
Harry Archer, Valentine Braun, Sam Brower, and (to the side in the black swit) “Poppy” Mowerson. Second
row: Fred Weinier, Mac McGill, Harry Yeomans, Milton Ackerson, Edward Thomas, Fred Koster, Charles
Winters, Otto Sturchler, Max Scholz, Walter Steele, and the Rev. James Jackson. Third row: Ing Roswell,
Bert Smith, Raymond Roswell, William Schilling, Jim Mowerson, William Mowerson, Ed Hilbert, William
Ackerson, Charles Johnson, and John Bijou.
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Fire records show that a motor-

ized vehicle was used for the first
time on November 17, 1914 when
Mr. Brennan's auto was used. A
record made March 17, 1915
shows the first use of the fire
association’s own “auto truck.”®’
Dr. Harry M. Archer was
instrumental in organizing the
Allendale Fire Association. The
son of Oliver Hazard Perry Archer
and Mary Dean, he was born in
1868 and died May 17, 1954. He
was by profession an insurance
doctor, but was best known as the
chief medical officer of the New
York City Fire Department; he
-, was later named “honorary med-

Above, 1915, parked outside the Allendale Fire House, the Seagrave lad-
der truck after being converted from horse drawn to Model T with chain
drive, prnewmalic front Lires, hard rubber tires on tractor, and original

hard rubber tires under rear trailer.

Below, Allendale Volunteer Five Department’s #2 equipment, about
1915. Standing, left to right are an unidentified man, Walter Steele,
Vito Gasparini, William Dewsnap, Sam Brower, Charles Johnson,
Ernest Steele, and Milton Ackerson. The driver is Dv. Harry Archer, and

the passenger is Valentine .J. Braun.

ical officer” of that department. It
was said that in his career he
missed only one three-alarm
blaze, and that was on his wed-
ding day in February 1914. He
spent his summers in Allendale
during his childhood and visited
here often later on in his life.*
On January 11, 1913, despite
the combined efforts of the
Allendale, Ridgewood, Waldwick
and Ramsey Fire Departments,
the house of Assemblyman
George Cook (a former Allendale
Mayor) burned to the ground.
Cook’s house stood on the north
side of West Allendale Avenue
between the train station and
Franklin Turnpike, and the dam-
age was estimated at $8,000. The
firemen from Allendale left the Fire
House at 6:10 a.m. and returned at
10:15 a.m. The fire departments of
the surrounding towns responded
to telephoned calls for assistance.
Sixty tons of coal had been stored
in the basement of the house, and
Mr. Cook announced that anyone
who could salvage the coal could

voted to pay $5 to the owner of the first team to get
to their headquarters and this is said to have pro-
duced a keen rivalry between a lumber company and
two grocery stores. A special harness, donated by Dr.
Harry M. Archer, hung from the ceiling in the Fire
House and this could be lowered onto the horses as
they backed into position, so that the truck could be
rushed to a fire within minutes of a team’s arrival.

have it. A number of men tried, but
no one was successful. The coal was still smoldering a
vear later, in January 1914 %5080
The Allendale Fire Association was an
autonomous group until September 23, 1914, when
the volunteers voted to put the organization under
the control of the Borough. A month later Mayor
Gustave Nadler signed an_ordinance creating the
Allendale Fire Department.h{
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The George Cook House on West Allendale Avenue,
destroyed by firve January 11, 1913.

UTILITIES AND IMPROVEMENTS

Maytie Sparling recalled that her uncle, James
Morton Southwick, was employed in the late 1890s
and early 1900s to care for Allendale’s 13 kerosene
street lamps. He carried a ladder on his rounds, when
he would ignite the lamps at night, and again when he
traveled the same route to put them out in the morn-
ing. Later, she remembered, a powerhouse was erect-
ed on the George Cook property, and from therg,-é
Southwick would turn the electric lights on and off.”

By 1895 Allendale had telephone connections via
a trunk line in Paterson with Waldwick, Ramsey, and
the Ridgewood Central District, which was com-
prised of Ridgewood, Midland Park, Glen Rock, and
Ho-Ho-Kus. There were fifteen telephones on a 10-
line switchboard installed in H. A. Tice's drug store in
Ridgewood. By 1896 this switchboard was no longer
adequate and was replaced by a 100-line switch-
board.

The first Ridgewood Central Office telephone
directory was issued in September 1897, and one
Allendale telephone was listed: a pay station in the
store of R. V. Ackerman. On August 13, 1903, The
Hackensack Republican reported in its Allendale
column that “there are two public telephones in town
now,” but neglected to mention where the second
phone was.'(m

Having a telephone put in your home was quite an
event, and Herbert Winter noted the remarkable
occurrence in his diary. The Winter home phone was
installed on May 14, 1914.

By February 17, 1916 transcontinental phone ser-
vice was in operation in the area. Those attending a
meeting at Fidelity Lodge of Ridgewood were to talk
to San Francisco that night.’

Negotiations for electrical service began around

the turn of the century, and on June 7, 1900 Allendale
enacted an ordinance authorizing the Rockland
Electric Company to install and maintain a pole line
in Allendale. At the September 14, 1900 Allendale
Council meeting, it was agreed that seven electric
lights were to be furnished to the borough by the
electric company as provided by their franchise. The
lights were to be installed at the following locations:

(1) in the square opposite Yeoman'’s Butcher Shop

(2) at the junction of the turnpike and the road
leading to the railroad station

(3) at the turn in the Saddle River Road by the res-
idence of Albert A. L. Zabriskie

(4) at the junction of the turnpike and Appert’s
Road in front of the residence of Mrs. Reading

(5) on the main turnpike at the crossing by the old
Gate House

(6) on the road leading from the railroad station to
the public park on the brow of the hill by the resi-
dence of Mr. Brown

(7) on the road leading from Mr. Pullis’s to the res-
idence of Mr. Burtis about 150 ft. west of Mr. Pullis’s
house.'”

In March 1915 Herbert Winter noted in his diary
that his grandmother Winter was putting a new bath-
room in her home on Elm Street, and by May
Grandma Winter was having electric lights installed
in her house.

Until 1914, Allendale’s water had come largely
from private springs and wells. Farms and houses in
the town had windmills, bucket wells and artesian
wells with pumps inside the house. Some families,
William Abbott was to later remember, had water
storage tanks that took up half of the attic. “Water
was pumped there several times a week and boys
were paid by the hour to pump — I was one of those
boys.” !

On July 23, 1914 water pipes were being laid in
Allendale. The Mount Prospect Water Company of
New York supplied the water, which was pumped
from Ramsey. On March 12, 1915 when the Jessup
barn on Brookside Avenue caught fire, “town water”
was used for the first time to extinguish a fire.% %

Work began on the building of sidewalks along
Franklin Turnpike in March 1916 and they were fin-
ished on September 6th.°

OTHER EVENTS

A tornado, unusual for this part of the country,
struck Bergen County on July 13, 1895. The location
suffering the most damage was the Cherry Hill sec-
tion near Hackensaclk, where people were killed and
houses demolished. For years people remembered
the storm as the “Cherry Hill Twister.”

That storm in our area was described by The
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A panoramic view of the Allendale business section, about 1903-1905. The view is looking east from Park
Avenue, traffic on which at that time crossed the railvoad tracks (so did traffic on West Allendale Avenue,
Just norvth in this photograph).

Ramsey Journal in its July 19, 1895 issue: “The
rolling black clouds on Saturday last were watched
with much alarm by our people and it was evident
that a storm of unusual fury was coming . . . The
clouds . . . suddenly increased in momentum and the
wind gained in velocity, when with a roar the storm
broke in all its fury. The rain fell in torrents, accom-
panied by hail stones of great size, which soon lev-
eled all before it. Crops and fruit were beaten to the
ground and in some sections entirely destroyed.”
Windows were broken, and people who happened
to have been out with horses at the time the storm
struck, had great difficulty controlling them. As near
as Ridgewood huge trees were uprooted. In Ramsey
a great deal of damage was done to greenhouses suf-
fering broken glass, and several large lights in the

schoolhouse at Ramsey were broken. Hail stones
were picked up that measured over 9 inches in cir-
cumference and weighed three quarters of a pound.”

On May 7, 1913, Mayor John Winter and William
Mallinson, armed with shotguns, forestalled a poten-
tial disturbance in town. They halted the march of
several hundred of the radical, socialistic Industrial
Workers of the World who were advancing along the
railroad tracks toward Allendale. Confronted by
Winter and Mallinson and their guns, the marchers
quickly dispersed and left the area. The L W.W., whose
members were called “Wobblies,” was an internation-
al industrial labor union that had been formed in
Chicago in 1905."

A panoramic view, about 1915 of the George M. Potter home at 775 West Crescent Avenue. Their pond can be
glimpsed on the left. The Ramsey Journal of July 6, 1916 reported on a party at the Potter home: “On July 4, in
the evening Mr. and Mrs. George M. Polter of Crescent Avenue gave one of the largest and most beautiful private
parties ever seen in Allendale. Mr Potter's beautiful grounds had been strung with electrically lighted Japanese
lanterns. Around the pond, adjacent lo the residence, there were also hung lanterns and in a canoe there were
many delightful “spooney” rides, limited to ten minutes. On the magnificent porch the party was grouped and
suitable refreshiments and cigars and cigareltes were to be had in abundance. The large living-room and dining-
room had been artistically decorated. In this and on a platform erected off the south side of the house there was
dancing. One of the main fealwres was a splendid exhibition of fireworks.”




